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CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

City Hall, 120 El Chico Trl., Suite A, Willow Park, TX 76087 

Tuesday, March 12, 2024 at 6:00 PM 

CALL TO ORDER AND THE ROLL OF ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICERS WILL BE 
TAKEN 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (Limited to three minutes per person) 

Residents may address the Council regarding an item that is not listed on the agenda. Residents 
must complete a speaker form and turn it in to the City Secretary five (5) minutes before the start 
of the meeting. The Rules of Procedure states that comments are to be limited to three (3) 
minutes. The Texas Open Meetings Act provides the following:  

A. If, at a meeting of a governmental body, a member of the public or of the governmental 
body inquiries about a subject for which notice has not been given as required by this 
subchapter, the notice provisions of this subchapter do not apply to:  

(1) A statement of specific factual information given in response to the inquiry; or 
(2) A recitation of existing policy in response to the inquiry. 

B. Any deliberation of or decision about the subject of the inquiry shall be limited to a 
proposal to place the subject on the agenda for a subsequent meeting. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters listed in the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by the City Council and 
will be enacted by one motion. There will not be a separate discussion of these items. If 
discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered 
separately.  

1. Approve City Council Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting February 27, 2024 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 

2. Discussion/Action: to approve the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Audit Report.  

3. Discussion/Action: to approve a final plat for Lots 1-6, Block 1, Haney Complex, being 
31.247 acres, Eliza Oxer Survey, Abstract No. 1031, in the City of Willow Park, Parker 
County, Texas.   

INFORMATIONAL 
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Mayor and City Council Comments 

City Manager Comments 

EXECUTIVE SESSION It is anticipated that all, or a portion of the discussion of the foregoing 
item will be conducted in closed executive session under authority of the Section 551 of the 
Texas Open Meetings Act. However, no action will be taken on this item until the City Council 
reconvenes in open session.  

4. Section 551.072 - Discussing the purchase, exchange, lease, or value of real property; 
205 Canyon Ct. 

5. Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney; Halff & Associates Litigation. 

RECONVENE into Open Session and consider action, if any, on the item discussed in Executive 
Session. 

ADJOURNMENT 

As authorized by Section 551.127, of the Texas Government Code, one or more Council 
Members or employees may attend this meeting remotely using video conferencing 
technology.  

The City Council may convene a public meeting and then recess into closed executive session, 
to discuss any of the items listed on this agenda, if necessary, and if authorized under chapter 
551 of the Texas Government Code. Situations in which a closed executive session may be 
authorized by law include, without limitation; (1) consulting with the Council’s attorney to seek or 
receive legal advice concerning pending or contemplated litigation, a settlement offer, or any 
other matter in which the ethical duty of the attorney to the Council clearly conflicts with the 
general requirement that all meetings be open, § 551.071; (2) discussing the purchase, 
exchange, lease, or value of real property, § 551.072; (3) discussing a prospective gift or 
donation, § 551.073; (4) discussing certain personnel matters, §551.074; and (5) discussing 
security personnel or devices, § 551.076. 

CERTIFICATION I, the undersigned authority, does hereby certify that this Notice of a Meeting 
was posted on the bulletin board at City Hall, 120 El Chico Trail, Suite A, Willow Park, TX 76087, 
a place convenient and readily accessible to the general public at all times, and said Notice was 
posted on the following date and time: March 8, 2024, at 5:00 p.m. and remained so posted 
continuously for at least 72 hours before said meeting is to convene. 

 

____________________________________ 
Crystal R. Dozier, TRMC, CMC  
City Secretary  

The City Hall is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available. Persons with disabilities who 
plan to attend this meeting and who may need auxiliary aids or services such as interpreters for persons who are 
deaf or hearing impaired, readers, or large print, are requested to contact the City Secretary’s Office at 817-441-
7108, or by email at cdozier@willowpark.org. Requests should be made at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. This 
agenda is posted on the city’s web site at www.willowpark.org 
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CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

City Hall, 120 El Chico Trl., Suite A, Willow Park, TX 76087 

Tuesday, February 27, 2024 at 6:00 PM 

CALL TO ORDER AND THE ROLL OF ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICERS WILL BE 
TAKEN 

Mayor Moss called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 
 

PRESENT 
Mayor Doyle Moss 
Councilmember Eric Contreras 
Councilmember Chawn Gilliland 
Councilmember Greg Runnebaum 
Councilmember Nathan Crummel 
 
ABSENT 
Councilmember Lea Young 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 

Matt Lantz with Christ Chapel West Campus gave the invocation followed by the pledge of 
allegiance.  

PUBLIC COMMENTS (Limited to three minutes per person) 

Residents may address the Council regarding an item that is not listed on the agenda. Residents 
must complete a speaker form and turn it in to the City Secretary five (5) minutes before the start 
of the meeting. The Rules of Procedure states that comments are to be limited to three (3) 
minutes. The Texas Open Meetings Act provides the following:  

A. If, at a meeting of a governmental body, a member of the public or of the governmental 
body inquiries about a subject for which notice has not been given as required by this 
subchapter, the notice provisions of this subchapter do not apply to:  

(1) A statement of specific factual information given in response to the inquiry; or 
(2) A recitation of existing policy in response to the inquiry. 

B. Any deliberation of or decision about the subject of the inquiry shall be limited to a 
proposal to place the subject on the agenda for a subsequent meeting. 
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David Laurenzo at 133 Sam Bass Rd.; Clifford Voorhees at 116 Same Bass Rd; and 
Representative Glen Rogers all spoke before the city council.  

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters listed in the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by the City Council and 
will be enacted by one motion. There will not be a separate discussion of these items. If 
discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered 
separately.  

 

1. Approve City Council Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting February 13, 2024. 

To approve City Council Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting February 13, 
2024. 

Motion made by Councilmember Gilliland, Seconded by Councilmember 
Contreras. 
 

Motion made by Councilmember Gilliland, Seconded by Councilmember 
Contreras. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Contreras, Councilmember Gilliland, 
Councilmember Runnebaum, Councilmember Crummel 
 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 

 

2. Discussion/Action: to adopt an ordinance of the City Council of the City of Willow Park, 
Texas, ordering the cancellation of the General  Election scheduled for May 4, 2024; 
declaring the unopposed candidates for Councilmember for Place No. 3, a 
Councilmember for Place No. 4, and a Councilmember for Place No. 5; to be elected to 
office; directing the City Secretary to take certain actions pertaining to the cancellation 
of the General Election; providing a severability clause; providing an effective date; and 
providing an open meetings clause. 

To adopt an ordinance of the City Council of the City of Willow Park, Texas, 
ordering the cancellation of the General  Election scheduled for May 4, 2024; 
declaring the unopposed candidates for Councilmember for Place No. 3, a 
Councilmember for Place No. 4, and a Councilmember for Place No. 5; to be 
elected to office; directing the City Secretary to take certain actions pertaining to 
the cancellation of the General Election; providing a severability clause; providing 
an effective date; and providing an open meetings clause. 

Motion made by Councilmember Contreras, Seconded by Councilmember 
Gilliland. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Contreras, Councilmember Gilliland, 
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Councilmember Runnebaum, Councilmember Crummel 
 

3. Consideration /Action: to reappoint Board of Adjustment Members Place No. 2 and 4, 
and appoint an Alternate. 

To reappoint Board of Adjustment Members Steven Gould, Place 2; and Mike 
Barron, Place 4; and to appoint Scott Smith as Alternate.  

Motion made by Councilmember Contreras, Seconded by Councilmember 
Crummel. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Contreras, Councilmember Gilliland, 
Councilmember Runnebaum, Councilmember Crummel 
 

4. Consideration/Action: to reappoint Parks Board Members Place No. 2, 4, and 6, and 
appoint an Alternate. 

To reappoint Parks Board Members Corey Tucker, Place 2; Ever Gomez, Place 4; 
and Cynthia White, Place 4; and appoint Barry Noggle as Alternate.  

Motion made by Councilmember Contreras, Seconded by Councilmember 
Runnebaum. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Contreras, Councilmember Gilliland, 
Councilmember Runnebaum, Councilmember Crummel 
 

5. Consideration/Action: to reappoint Planning and Zoning Commissioners Place 2 and 
Alternate, and appoint Place 4 and second Alternate.  

To reappoint Planning and Zoning Commissioners Scott Smith, Place 2; and Zac 
Walker, Alternate; and appoint Tyler VanSant Place 4; and Ever Gomez as 
Alternate.  

Motion made by Councilmember Gilliland, Seconded by Councilmember 
Contreras. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Contreras, Councilmember Gilliland, 
Councilmember Runnebaum, Councilmember Crummel 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING to consider a Request for Zoning Change from “Class II: Residential 
‘R-1’ Single-Family District” to “Class I – Special purpose: ‘PD’ Planned Development 
District” for 721 Ranch House Road, Lot 1, Block 1 in the Willow Park Church of Christ 
Addition, City of Willow Park, Parker County, Texas. 

Mayor Moss opened the Public Hearing at 6:16 pm.  

Chad Dotson at 1236 Sam Bass Rd; Walt Auen at 132 Sam Bass Rd.; Clifford 
Voorhees at 116 Sam Bass Rd.; Justin Holcombe at 108 Sam Bass Rd.; and Stacy 
Lynch with Lynch Legacy all spoke before the city council regarding 721 Ranch 
House Road.  
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Mayor Moss closed the Public Hearing at 6:26 pm.  

7. Discussion/Action: to adopt an ordinance for a Zoning Change from “Class II: 
Residential ‘R-1’ Single-Family District” to “Class I – Special purpose: ‘PD’ Planned 
Development District” for 721 Ranch House Road, Lot 1, Block 1 in the Willow Park 
Church of Christ Addition, City of Willow Park, Parker County, Texas. 

To adopt an ordinance for a Zoning Change from “Class II: Residential ‘R-1’ 
Single-Family District” to “Class I – Special purpose: ‘PD’ Planned Development 
District” for 721 Ranch House Road, Lot 1, Block 1 in the Willow Park Church of 
Christ Addition, City of Willow Park, Parker County, Texas. 

Motion made by Councilmember Runnebaum, Seconded by Councilmember 
Gilliland. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Contreras, Councilmember Gilliland, 
Councilmember Runnebaum, Councilmember Crummel 
 

8. PUBLIC HEARING to consider a Request for Zoning Change from “Class II: Residential 
‘R-1’ Single-Family District” to “Class IV - Industrial: Commercial – ‘LI’ Light Industrial 
District” for the Haney Complex Addition, Tracts 1-3, being approximately 31.247 acres 
in the Eliza Oxer Survey, Abstract Number 1031, City of Willow Park, Parker County, 
Texas. 

Mayor Moss opened the Public Hearing at 6:40 pm. 

Hearing was none.  

Mayor Moss closed the Public Hearing at 6:41 pm.  

9. Consideration/Action: to adopt an ordinance for a Zoning Change from “Class II: 
Residential ‘R-1’ Single-Family District” to “Class IV - Industrial: Commercial – ‘LI’ Light 
Industrial District” for the Haney Complex Addition, Tracts 1-3, being approximately 
31.247 acres in the Eliza Oxer Survey, Abstract Number 1031, City of Willow Park, 
Parker County, Texas. 

To adopt an ordinance for a Zoning Change from “Class II: Residential ‘R-1’ 
Single-Family District” to “Class IV - Industrial: Commercial – ‘LI’ Light Industrial 
District” for the Haney Complex Addition, Tracts 1-3, being approximately 31.247 
acres in the Eliza Oxer Survey, Abstract Number 1031, City of Willow Park, Parker 
County, Texas. 

Motion made by Councilmember Runnebaum, Seconded by Councilmember 
Contreras. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Contreras, Councilmember Gilliland, 
Councilmember Runnebaum, Councilmember Crummel 
 

10. PUBLIC HEARING to consider a Request for a Special Use Permit regarding the 
addition of a Roller Skating Rink as an allowable use for Lot 3, Block 3 in the Haney 
Complex Addition, which is concurrently requesting a Zoning Change from “Class II: 
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Residential ‘R-1’ Single-Family District” to “Class IV - Industrial: Commercial – ‘LI’ Light 
Industrial District” in the City of Willow Park, Parker County, Texas.  

Mayor Moss opened the Public Hearing at 6:45 pm.  

Hearing was none.  

Mayor Moss closed the Public Hearing at 6:46 pm.  

11. Discussion/Action: to adopt an ordinance of the City of Willow Park, Texas amending 
the Zoning “Class IV – Industrial: Commercial  - ‘LI’ Light Industrial District” to grant a 
Special Use Permit to include “Indoor Roller Skating Rink” for the Haney Complex 
Addition, Lot 3, in the Eliza Oxer Survey, Abstract Number 131, City of Willow Park, 
Parker County, Texas; repealing conflicting ordinances; providing for a severability; and 
providing for effective date.   

To adopt an ordinance of the City of Willow Park, Texas amending its 
comprehensive zoning ordinance and map, Chapter 14 of the Willow Park Code 
of Ordinances by approving an amendment to the Zoning District “Class IV – 
Industrial: Commercial  - ‘LI’ Light Industrial District” to grant a Special Use 
Permit to allow for use of property described as the Haney Complex Addition, Lot 
3, in the Eliza Oxer Survey, Abstract Number 1031, City of Willow Park, Parker 
County, Texas for an "Indoor Roller Skating Rink"; approving Specific Use Permit 
Standards; providing for a severability; providing a penalty clause, and providing 
for effective date.   

Motion made by Councilmember Contreras, Seconded by Councilmember 
Gilliland. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Contreras, Councilmember Gilliland, 
Councilmember Runnebaum, Councilmember Crummel 
 

INFORMATIONAL 
 
Mayor and City Council Comments 
 
City Manager Comments 

EXECUTIVE SESSION It is anticipated that all, or a portion of the discussion of the foregoing 
item will be conducted in closed executive session under authority of the Section 551 of the 
Texas Open Meetings Act. However, no action will be taken on this item until the City Council 
reconvenes in open session.  

12. 551.087 - Economic Development Negotiations; 551.071 Consultation with City 
Attorney; Beall Development Agreement.  

13. Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney; Halff & Associates Litigation. 

14. Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney 

A.   Deliberations regarding rescinding opt-out filed in 3M and Dupont PFAS litigation. 
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B.  Chapter 380 Agreement between the City and Far Out Hospitality for the 
development of a Cork and Pig Restaurant offering sales tax rebates. 

RECONVENE into Open Session and consider action, if any, on the item discussed in Executive 
Session. 

ADJOURNMENT 

As authorized by Section 551.127, of the Texas Government Code, one or more Council 
Members or employees may attend this meeting remotely using video conferencing technology.  

 

____________________________________ 
Crystal R. Dozier, TRMC, CMC  
City Secretary  

The City Hall is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available. Persons with disabilities who 
plan to attend this meeting and who may need auxiliary aids or services such as interpreters for persons who are 
deaf or hearing impaired, readers, or large print, are requested to contact the City Secretary’s Office at 817-441-
7108, or by email at cdozier@willowpark.org. Requests should be made at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. This 
agenda is posted on the city’s web site at www.willowpark.org 
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3/8/2024 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING SHEET 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM: Discussion/ Action: To consider and act on approval of the Fiscal Year 
2022 - 2023 Audit. 
 

BACKGROUND:  Council will hear the Annual Audit from Snow, Garrett, and Williams, CPA.  

This is for fiscal activities from October 1, 2022 thru September 30, 2023.   

 

 

 

 

Suggested Motion:  I move to accept the Fiscal Year 2022 – 2023 Audit as presented.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

             

STAFF/BOARD/COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
              

EXHIBITS:    
 

 

 

ADDITIONAL INFO: 
 

FINANCIAL INFO:  

Cost $ 

Source of 

Funding 

$ 

  

  

  

 

Council Date: Department: Presented By: 

 Admin City Manager 

March 12, 2024   
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SNOW GARRETT WILLIAMS 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

March 7, 2024 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Willow Park, Texas 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Willow 
Park, Texas for the year ended September 30, 2023. Professional standards require that we 
provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing 
standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, as well as certain 
information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such 
information in our engagement letter to you dated June 21, 2023. Professional standards also 
require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Matters 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 
significant accounting policies used by the City are described in Note A to the financial statements. 
As described in Note A to the financial statements, the City changed accounting policies related 
to leases by adopting Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 96, 
Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements during fiscal year 2023. We noted no 
transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period . 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management 
and are based on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting 
the financial statements were: 

• Management's estimate of the City's net pension liability/asset related to TMRS as well as 
the related deferred inflows, deferred outflows, and pension expense are based on 
guidance from GASB Statement No. 68 and the plan's actuarial valuation . We evaluated 
the key factors and assumptions used to develop the liability/asset in determining that it is 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

1207 Santa Fe Drive • Weatherford, Texas 76086 • 817-596-9301 • Fax 817-596-9304 
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• Management's estimates of the City's total OPEB liability as well as the related deferred 
inflows, deferred outflows, and OPEB expense are based on guidance from GASB 
Statement No. 75 and an actuarial valuation which itself includes assumptions regarding 
inflation, salary increases, healthcare costs trend rates and mortality rates. We evaluated 
the key factors and assumptions used to develop the liability in determining that it is 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate 
level of management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. In addition, none of 
the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were 
material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit's financial statements taken 
as a whole. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the 
financial statements or the auditor's report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 
arose during the course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated March 7, 2024. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations. If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the City's financial statements or a determination 
of the type of auditor's opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional 
standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has 
all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City's auditors. However, 
these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our 
responses were not a condition to our retention. 
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Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to management's discussion and analysis and required 
supplementary information (RSI), as listed in the table of contents, which supplement the basic 
financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge 
we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
We were engaged to report on the combining nonmajor fund financial statements and the 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards, which accompany the financial statements but are 
not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of 
management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and 
the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records 
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and 
management of the City of Willow Park, Texas and is not intended to be, and should not be, used 
by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

Snow Garrett Williams 
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SNOW GARRETT WILLIAMS 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Management Letter 

March 7, 2024 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Willow Park, Texas 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the City of Willow Park, Texas, as of 
September 30, 2023, we conducted a review of accounting procedures and internal control. While 
the primary objective of such a review is to afford us a basis of determining the scope of our audit 
procedures, it nevertheless presents us with an opportunity to submit, for management's 
consideration, suggestions for changes in procedures, which, in our opinion, could strengthen 
internal control or contribute to the improvement of operating efficiency. 

The comments in this letter are based upon observations made in the course of such a review. The 
review was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on internal control, and it would 
not necessarily disclose all weaknesses in the system. The matters discussed herein were 
considered during our audit of the financial statements, and they did not modify the opinion 
expressed in our report on those financial statements. However, we offer for your review, 
comments and recommendations as noted on the following pages. 

We have discussed the following comments in detail with the appropriate staff of the City to ensure 
understanding of the comments and implementation of recommendations. If you have any 
questions regarding these or any other matters, please feel free to contact us. 

This letter is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council members, management, 
and others within the City and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 

Finally, we take this opportunity to thank you and your staff for your courtesy and cooperation 
during our audit. Thank you for your business. 

Sincerely, 

Snow Garrett Williams 

1207 Santa Fe Drive • Weatherford, Texas 76086 • 817-596-9301 • Fax 817-596-9304 
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CURRENT YEAR COMMENTS 

Adjusting Journal Entries 

Comment: When performing our audit procedures, we noted several adjusting entries were needed 
to correctly state account balances at year end. 

Recommendation: We recommend that the City closely review the content of the current year 
audit adjustments to understand the purpose of the adjustments, reclassifications, or corrections 
and incorporate these entries into the City's monthly or year-end accounting transactions. 

Fixed Assets 

Comment: During our testing of fixed assets, we noted several fully depreciated assets that the 
City may no longer own or use. 

Recommendation: We recommend that City management work with department heads to review 
the fixed asset detail and dispose and write-off any assets that are no longer in service. 

OBJECTIVE OF INTERNAL CONTROL 

The objective of internal control is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the City's 
assets will be safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and that the reliability 
of financial records for preparing financial statements and maintaining accountability for assets will 
be preserved. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a system of 
internal control should not exceed the benefits derived and also recognizes that the evaluation of 
these factors necessarily requires estimates and judgments by management. 

Because of inherent limitations in any internal control, misstatements due to error or fraud may 
occur and not be detected. Control procedures whose effectiveness depends upon the segregation 
of duties can be circumvented intentionally by management either with respect to the execution and 
recording of transactions or with respect to the estimates and judgments required in the preparation 
of financial statements. Further, projections of any evaluation of the internal control over financial 
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal control may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 
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SNOW GARRETT WILLIAMS 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council City of 
Willow Park, Texas 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
City of Willow Park, Texas, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements 
as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Willow Park, Texas (the 
City) as of September 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position , and, where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to 
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Emphasis of Matter - Change in Accounting Principle 

As described in Note A to the financial statements, in fiscal year 2023, the City adopted new 
accounting guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 96, 
Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. Our opinions are not modified with 
respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City's 
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, 
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 
would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, no 
such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of our audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and the schedule of 
changes in the net pension liability/(asset) and related ratios, the schedule of employer pension 
contributions and related ratios, the schedule of changes in the total OPES liability and related 
ratios, and the schedule of OPES contributions and related ratios on pages 6-14 and 57-61 be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
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Such information is the responsibility of management, and, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the GASB who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
ail opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements. The accompanying combining 
nonmajor fund financial statements and schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required 
by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and related directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements 
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
combining nonmajorfund financial statements and the schedule of expenditures offederal awards 
are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 
7, 2024, on our consideration of the City of Willow Park, Texas' internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Willow Park, Texas' 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Willow 
Park, Texas' internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Snow Garrett Williams 
March 7, 2024 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

The management's discussion and analysis (MD&A) of the City of Willow Park (the City) provides 
an overview of the City's financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. The 
MD&A should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements and the notes to 
those financial statements. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

• The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources at the close of fiscal year 2023 by $20,782,240 (net position). Of this 
amount, $4,206,103 is restricted for specific purposes and $15,059,107 represents 
unrestricted net position that may be used to meet the City's ongoing obligations to citizens 
and creditors. Net position also includes $1,517,030 in net investment in capital assets. 

• In contrast to the government-wide statements, the governmental fund statements report a 
fund balance at year-end of $7,178,705, of which $2,653,117 represents restricted fund 
balance and $4,525,588 represents unassigned fund balance. 

• The general fund unassigned fund balance of $4,525,588 equals 28% of total general fund 
expenditures. 

• The City's total noncurrent liabilities increased by $4,705,897 during the current fiscal year as 
a result of the issuance of two new certificates of obligations, offset by scheduled annual debt 
service payments. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City's financial 
statements. The City's basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) 
government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial 
statements. This report also contains required supplementary information and other 
supplemental information in addition to the basic financial statements. 

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements include the 
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities. These statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City's finances in a manner similar to a private 
sector business. Both are prepared using the economic resource focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting, meaning that all the current year's revenues and expenses are included regardless of 
when cash is received or paid. 

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City's assets and deferred 
outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, including capital assets 
and long-term obligations. The difference between the two is reported as net position. Over time, 
the increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial 
position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues 
and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future 
fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities divide the primary government (the 
City) activities into two types: 

Governmental activities - Most of the City's basic services are reported here, including 
administration, development services, fire and rescue, legislative, municipal court, police, and 
public works, parks, and roads. General property taxes, sales taxes, and franchise fees provide 
the majority of the financing for these activities. 

Business-type activities - Activities for which the City charges a fee to customers to pay most 
or all of the costs of a service it provides are reported here. The City's business-type activities 
include its water, wastewater, and solid waste operations. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found beginning on page 16 of this report. 

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain 
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, 
like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. These statements focus on the most 
significant funds and are used to report more detailed information about the City's most significant 
activities. All of the funds of the City can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and 
proprietary funds. 

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for the majority of the City's 
activities, which are essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources, as well as spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year for 
future spending. Such information may be useful in evaluating the City's near-term financing 
requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term 
financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund 
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to 
facilitate the comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

The City maintains thirteen individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in 
the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and in the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for the General Fund, Debt Service Fund, and 
Roads Capital Projects Fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data for the other ten 
governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for 
each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements in 
the supplementary information section of this report. 

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison 
statement (original versus final) has been provided in this report for the general fund to 
demonstrate compliance with this budget. 

The governmental fund financial statements can be found beginning on page 18 of this report. 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Proprietary funds. When the City charges customers for services it provides, the activities are 
generally reported in proprietary funds. The City maintains one type of proprietary fund: an 
enterprise fund. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business­
type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses an enterprise fund to 
account for its water, wastewater, and solid waste operations. These services are primarily 
provided to outside or non-governmental customers. 

Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information as the government­
wide financial statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide 
information for the Water Fund and Wastewater Fund, which are considered to be the major 
proprietary funds of the City. Information is also presented for the Solid Waste Fund, which is a 
non-major proprietary fund. 

The proprietary fund financial statements can be found beginning on page 21 of this report. 

Notes to the basic financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is 
essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial 
statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found beginning on page 24 of this 
report. 

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this 
report also presents certain required supplementary information including budgetary comparison 
information and information concerning pension and OPEB benefits. The required supplementary 
information can be found beginning on page 57 of this report. 

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds are 
presented immediately following the required supplementary information. This other supplemental 
information can be found beginning on page 63 of this report. 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's 
financial position. In the case of the City, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $20,782,240 as of September 30, 2023. 

City of Willow Park's Net Position 

Governmental Activities Business-Tl'.ee Activities Total 
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

Current and other assets $ 9,736,978 $12,976,918 $28,298, 135 $32,814,140 $38,035, 113 $45,791,058 
Capital assets and right-to-use assets, 

net of depreciation/amortization 27,160,545 14,961,775 24,527,767 22,770,786 51,688,312 37,732,561 

Total assets 36,897,523 27,938,693 52,825,902 55,584,926 89,723,425 83,523,619 

Deferred outflows of resources 202,533 140,525 74,909 51,975 277,442 192,500 

Long-term liabilities 27,172,192 22,870,805 35,088,665 39,693,305 62,260,857 62,564,110 
Other liabilities 3,682,145 665,626 2,753,126 2,516,416 6,435,271 3,182,042 

Total liabilities 30,854,337 23,536,431 37,841,791 42,209,721 68,696,128 65,746,152 

Deferred inflows of resources 515,416 165,075 7,083 61,055 522,499 226,130 

Net position: 
Net investment in capital assets (231,735) (2,400,065) 1,748,765 970,159 1,517,030 (1,429,906) 
Restricted 1,183,769 937,155 3,022,334 2,892,699 4,206,103 3,829,854 

Unrestricted 4,778,269 5,840,622 10,280,838 9,503,267 15,059,107 15,343,889 

Total net position $ 5,730,303 $ 4,377,712 $15,051,937 $13,366,125 $20, 782,240 $17,743,837 

The City's net investment in capital assets (e.g., land, construction in progress, buildings and 
improvements, furniture and equipment, vehicles, infrastructure, water and wastewater systems, 
and right-of-use assets) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding 
is $1,517,030. The City uses those assets to provide services to the citizens; consequently, these 
assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's investment in its capital assets is 
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must 
be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities. An additional $4,206,103 ( or 20%) of the City's net position represents resources 
that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. All restricted net position of the 
City is being held for the purposes established by state and local laws, for future construction, 
and for debt service requirements on the City's outstanding debt. The remaining portion of the 
City's net position is $15,059,107 and may be used to meet the City's ongoing obligations to 
citizens and creditors. 

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City is able to report positive balances in all categories of 
net position, both for the City as a whole and for its separate governmental and business-type 
activities, except for net investment in capital assets of governmental activities. At the end of the 
prior fiscal year, all categories of net position were reported as positive balances with the 
exception of net investment in capital assets of governmental activities. 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

The City's total net position increased by $3,038,403 during the current fiscal year. The City's 
governmental activities increased net position by $1,352,591. The total cost of all governmental 
activities this year was $6,860,992. The amount that taxpayers paid for these activities through 
property taxes was $3,959,918, or 58%. The City's business-type activities increased net position 
by $1,685,812. The total cost of all business-type activities for fiscal year 2023 was $4,298,303. 

Revenues: 
Program revenues: 

Charges for services 
Operating grants and contributions 
Capital grants and contributions 

General revenues: 
Property taxes 
Sales and use taxes 
Franchise taxes 
Hotel occupancy taxes 
Drainage fees 
Investment earnings 
Other 
Gain on sale of capital assets 
Special item: 

Loss on transfer of operations 

Total revenues 

Expenses: 
Administration 
Development services 
Fire and rescue 
Legislative 
Municipal court 
Police 
Public works, parks, and roads 
Interest and fiscal charges 
Water 
Wastewater 
Solid waste 

Total expenses 

Change in net position 

Net position, beginning of year 

Prior period adjustment 

Net position, beginning of year, restated 

Net position, end of year 

City of Willow Park's Changes in Net Position 

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total 
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

$ 842,998 $ 897,933 $ 4,394,192 $ 4,362,328 $ 5,237,190 $ 5,260,261 
130,857 172,239 130,857 172,239 

3,959,918 
2,217,931 

411,357 
243,759 
363,456 
377,940 
85,454 

3,834,214 
1,866,827 

397,514 
142,932 
330,894 
75,373 
20,551 
37,793 

1,339,642 488,997 1,339,642 488,997 

250,281 22,098 

35,111 

3,959,918 
2,217,931 

411,357 
243,759 
363,456 
628,221 
85,454 

3,834,214 
1,866,827 

397,514 
142,932 
330,894 
97,471 
20,551 
72,904 

(420,087) ------------ (420,087) ----

8,213,583 

1,430,749 
938,743 
978,789 
195,622 
190,097 

1,923,144 
582,800 
621,048 

6,860,992 

1,352,591 

4,377,712 

4,377,712 

7,776,270 

536,874 
865,865 

1,445,665 
189,575 
157,886 

1,576,253 
1,414,337 

446,871 

6,633,326 

1,142,944 

3,076,522 

158,246 

5,984,115 

2,961,449 
1,025,366 

311,488 

4,298,303 

1,685,812 

13,366,125 

4,908,534 

2,637,569 
925,494 
296,289 

3,859,352 

1,049,182 

12,316,943 

14,197,698 

1,430,749 
938,743 
978,789 
195,622 
190,097 

1,923,144 
582,800 
621,048 

2,961,449 
1,025,366 

311,488 

11,159,295 

3,038,403 

17,743,837 

12,684,804 

536,874 
865,865 

1,445,665 
189,575 
157,886 

1,576,253 
1,414,337 

446,871 
2,637,569 

925,494 
296,289 

10,492,678 

2,192,126 

15,393,465 

158,246 

3,234,768 13,366,125 12,316,943 17,743,837 15,551,711 

$ 5,730,303 $ 4,377,712 $15,051,937 $13,366,125 $20,782,240 $17,743,837 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Governmental activities. Governmental activities increased the City's net position by 
$1,352,591. Key elements of this increase are as follows: 

• Increase in general revenues due to an overall increase in taxes, including an 
approximate 3% increase in property taxes, 19% increase in sales and use taxes, and 
70% increase in hotel occupancy taxes; 

• Decrease in general revenues is primarily due to the loss related to the transfer of fire 
protection services to Parker County Emergency Services District No. 1, and 

• Increase in expenses for administration and police services. 

Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities 
Property taxes 

48% 

Franchise taxes 
5% Grants and 

Contribufions 
2% 

Sales taxes 
27% Hotel 

occupancy 
taxes 
3% 

Other 
1% 

Drainage fees 
4% 

Business-type activities. Business-type activities increased the City's net position by 
$1,685,812. 

Operating revenue increased by $31,864 from the prior year primarily due to an increase in water, 
wastewater, and solid waste sales and an increase in impact fees. Operating expenses increased 
by $438,951 from the prior year primarily due to an increase in personnel services. Additionally, 
the City recognized $1,339,642 in grant revenue during fiscal year 2023. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. 

Governmental funds. The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on 
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in 
assessing the City's financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as 
a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal 
year. As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported a combined 
ending fund balance of $7,178,705, which is an decrease of $5,077,041 in comparison with the 
prior year. $4,525,588 or 63% of the fund balance represents unassigned fund balance, which is 
available for spending at the City's discretion. The remainder of fund balance is restricted to 
indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already been set aside to pay 
debt service ($249,319), to fund road capital projects ($1,447,817), for court security and 
technology ($120,908), for police seizure funds ($4,848), to fund tourism ($466,784), for police 
and first responder contributions ($134,869), and for truancy funds ($26,476), to fund other 
capital projects ($12,371), and other City related expenditures ($51,372). 

11 27

Item 2.



City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, the 
total fund balance of the general fund was $4,663,941, of which $4,525,588 represented 
unassigned fund balance, or 97% of the total general fund balance. As a measure of the general 
fund's liquidity, we compare unassigned fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unassigned 
fund balance represents 28%, or approximately 104 days of total fund expenditures. 

The fund balance of the City's general fund decreased by $1,685,525 during the current fiscal 
year. Key elements of the decrease are as follows: 

• Total revenues in the general fund increased by $535,392, or 10%. The increase is 
primarily due to an increase in sales and use taxes of $351,104, and an increase in 
investment earnings of $182,929 and court fines of $131,388, offset by a decrease in 
licenses and permits of $303,291. 

• Total expenditures in the general fund increased by $11,085,961, or 228%. The increase 
is primarily due to an increase in capital outlay for the new city hall. 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

Overall, the City's revenues exceeded the budget by approximately $241,416. This was primarily 
due to sales tax revenue and investment earnings exceeding budget by approximately $172,606 
and $203, 113, respectively. Sales tax budget projections were conservative; however, with the 
growth of commercial properties within the City, sales tax revenue continued to grow. Investment 
earnings exceeded projections due to an overall increase in interest rates. 

The City's expenditures were more than budgeted amounts by approximately $10,254,482. This 
was due to capital outlay for the new city hall exceeding appropriations as well as negative 
variances in administration, municipal court, and development services. 

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital assets. The City's investment in total capital assets for its governmental and business­
type activities as of September 30, 2023, amounts to $51,688,312 (net of accumulated 
depreciation/amortization). Investments in capital assets related to governmental activities 
($27,160,545) include land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, furniture and 
equipment, vehicles, infrastructure, and right-of-use assets. The City's investments in capital 
assets related to business-type activities ($24,527,767) include land, construction in progress, 
buildings and improvements, furniture and equipment, vehicles, water system, wastewater 
system, and right-of-use assets. 

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year include the following: 

Administration 
• New City Hall construction. 

Public Works, Parks, and Roads Department 
• Ongoing street projects. 
• Ongoing drainage projects. 

Water Department 
• Ongoing Fort Worth water line project. 
• Water system improvements. 
• Purchase of three generators and a skid steer track loader. 
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Wastewater Department 

City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

• System improvements to the Bankhead Lift Station. 
• . Ongoing wastewater treatment project. 
• Completion of the water and sewer extension project at Bankhead South. 

Land 
Construction in progress 
Buildings and improvements 
Furniture and equipment 
Vehicles 
Infrastructure 
Water system 
Wastewater system 
Right-of-use assets - vehicles 

Total 

City of Willow Park's Capital Assets 
(net of depreciation/ amortization) 

Governmental Activities Business-~ee Activities 
2023 2022 2023 2022 

$ 958,993 $ 126,027 $ 394,576 $ 394,576 
6,314,372 502,321 1,883,327 10,774,452 

13,062,703 6,034,689 41,641 43,617 
300,472 413,415 413,709 299,710 

37,736 1,225,635 92,753 117,722 
6,192,094 6,518,478 

16,976,981 7,052,889 
4,615,495 3,994,252 

294,175 141,210 109,285 93,568 

$ 27,160,545 $ 14,961,775 $ 24,527,767 $ 22,770,786 

Total 
2023 2022 

$ 1,353,569 $ 520,603 
8,197,699 11,276,773 

13,104,344 6,078,306 
714,181 713,125 
130,489 1,343,357 

6,192,094 6,518,478 
16,976,981 7,052,889 
4,615,495 3,994,252 

403,460 234,778 

$ 51,688,312 $ 37,732,561 

Additional information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note G on pages 35 through 37 
of this report. 

Long-term obligations. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total long-term 
obligations outstanding of: 

City of Willow Park's Outstanding Debt 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total 

General obligation bonds $ 6,330,000 $ - $ 6,330,000 
Certificates of obligation 17,602,126 35,962,874 53,565,000 
Tax notes 2,300,000 2,300,000 
Notes from direct borrowings 218,852 253,078 471,930 
Unamortized debt premium 1,748,929 164,195 1,913,124 
Lease liability 237,534 66,663 304,197 
Net pension liability 205,148 75,877 281,025 
Compensated absences 130,195 37,870 168,065 
Total OPES liability 56,747 20,989 77,736 

Total $ 28,829,531 $ 36,581,546 $ 65,411,077 

The City's total long-term obligations increased by a net amount of $4,705,897 during the current 
fiscal year primarily as a result of the issuance of two new certificates of obligation, offset by 
principal payments made on outstanding debt. The City's compensated absences and OPEB 
liability decreased in the current fiscal year, while the City's unamortized debt premium, lease 
liability and net pension liability increased. Additional information on the City's long-term debt can 
be found in Note H on pages 37 through 44 of this report. 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

State statutes limit the total property tax rate to $2.50 per $100 assessed valuation. The City's 
total property tax rate for 2022-2023 was $0.538450 per $100 assessed valuation, of which 
$0.283941 was for maintenance and operations and $0.254509 was for debt service. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES 

The annual budget is developed to provide efficient, effective, and economic uses of the City's 
resources, as well as a means to accomplish the highest priority objectives. Through the budget, 
the City Council sets the direction of the City, allocates its resources, and establishes its priorities. 
In considering the City budget for fiscal year 2024, the City Council and administration considered 
the following factors: 

For fiscal year 2023 - 2024, the City is anticipating benefitting from a new statue that became 
effective as of September 1, 2023. This statute, which allows property owners to petition to be 
removed from the ET J, has produced interest in some of those properties to be annexed by the 
City of Willow Park. The City of Willow Park has invested approximately $25 Million in various 
infrastructure projects, most notably the Fort Worth water line project, and the new wastewater 
treatment plant. These projects give confidence to owners who desire to develop their properties 
that the City of Willow Park can provide those basic infrastructure needs. These properties have 
high potential for significant sales tax growth, residential growth, commercial growth, an overall 
ad valorem tax increase of new property, and other streams of new revenue for the City of Willow 
Park. 

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, and investors with a general 
overview of the City of Willow Park's finances and to show the City's accountability for the money 
it receives. If you have questions about this report or need any additional financial information, 
contact the Finance Department at 120 El Chico, Suite A, Willow Park, Texas 76087. 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Statement of Net Position 

September 30, 2023 

Primary Government 
Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities Total 
Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,716,551 $ 15,440,482 $ 23,157,033 
Investments 591,151 1,645,857 2,237,008 
Receivables (net of allowances of $1,198,775) 

Property taxes 28,102 28,102 
Accounts 40,807 40,807 
Court fines and fees 96,489 595,327 691,816 
Lease 501,446 501,446 
Due from other governments 349,876 8,422,287 8,772,163 

Restricted assets 
Cash and investments 412,556 2,085,671 2,498,227 
Certificates of deposit 108,511 108,511 

Capital assets and right-to-use assets 
Nondepreciable 7,273,365 2,277,903 9,551,268 
Depreciable/amortizable, net of accumulated 

depreciation and amortization 19,887,180 22,249,864 42,137,044 

Total assets 36,897,523 52,825,902 89,723,425 

Deferred outflows of resources 

Deferred outflows related to pensions 202,533 74,909 277,442 

Total deferred outflows of resources 202,533 74,909 277,442 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable 1,390,736 584,096 1,974,832 
Payroll liabilities 47,804 15,037 62,841 
Due to other governments 312,735 312,735 
Retainage payable 436,934 41,664 478,598 
Court bonds payable 7,185 7,185 
Unearned revenue 55,215 55,215 
Long-term obligations, due within one year 1,657,339 1,492,881 3,150,220 
Current liabilities payable from restricted assets 

Interest payable 86,932 69,497 156,429 
Customer deposits 237,216 237,216 

Noncurrent liabilities 
Net pension liability 205,148 75,877 281,025 
Total OPES liability 56,747 20,989 77,736 
Long-term obligations, due in more than one year 26,910,297 34,991,799 61,902,096 

Total liabilities 30,854,337 37,841,791 68,696,128 

Deferred inflows of resources 

Deferred inflows related to OPES 19,147 7,083 26,230 
Deferred inflows related to leases 496,269 496,269 

Total deferred inflows of resources 515,416 7,083 522,499 

Net position 

Net investment in capital assets (231,735) 1,748,765 1,517,030 
Restricted for: 

Debt service 249,319 249,319 
Police 8,445 8,445 
First responder 136,217 136,217 
Tourism 466,784 466,784 
Capital projects 3,022,334 3,022,334 
Court security and technology 120,908 120,908 
Public access channel capital projects 138,353 138,353 
TIRZ 3,000 3,000 
Construction projects 12,371 12,371 
TexST AR parks and recreation 48,372 48,372 

Unrestricted net position 4,778,269 10,280,838 15,059,107 

Total net position $ 5,730,303 $ 15,051,937 $ 20,782,240 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 16 32
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Statement of Activities 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Net Revenue (Expense) and Changes In Net Position 

Program Revenues Primary Government 

Operating Capital 
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type 

Functions/Programs ~ens es Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total 

Primary Government 
Governmental activities 

Administration $ 1,430,749 $ $ $ $ (1,430,749) $ $ (1,430,749) 
Development services 938,743 422,007 (516,736) (516,736) 
Fire and rescue 978,789 (978,789) (978,789) 
Legislative 195,622 (195,622) (195,622) 
Municipal court 190,097 333,445 143,348 143,348 
Police 1,923,144 81,303 129,357 (1,712,484) (1,712,484) 
Public works, parks, and roads 582,800 6,243 1,500 (575,057) (575,057) 
Interest and fiscal charges 621,048 (621,048) (621,048) 

Total governmental activities 6,860,992 842,998 130,857 (5,887, 137) (5,887,137) 

Business-type activities 
Water 2,961,449 3,167,697 378,213 584,461 584,461 
Wastewater 1,025,366 862,507 961,429 798,570 798,570 
Solid waste 311,488 363,988 52,500 52,500 

Total business-type activities 4,298,303 4,394,192 1,339,642 1,435,531 1,435,531 

Total primary government $ 11,159,295 $ 5,237,190 $ 130,857 $ 1,339,642 (5,887,137) 1,435,531 (4,451,606) 

General revenues 
Taxes: 

Property taxes, levied for general purposes 1,902,971 1,902,971 
Property taxes, levied for debt service 1,707,163 1,707,163 
Property taxes, levied for TIRZ 349,784 349,784 
Sales and use 2,217,931 2,217,931 
Franchise 411,357 411,357 
Hotel 243,759 243,759 

Drainage fees 363,456 363,456 
Investment earnings 377,940 250,281 628,221 
Other revenue 85,454 85,454 
Special Item: 

Loss on transfer of operations (420,087) (420,087) 

Total general revenues 7,239,728 250,281 7,490,009 

Change in net position 1,352,591 1,685,812 3,038,403 

Net position, beginning of year 4,377,712 13,366,125 17,743,837 

Net position, end of year $ 5,730,303 $ 15,051,937 $ 20,782,240 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 17 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 
September 30, 2023 

Debt Roads Capital Other 
General Service Projects Governmental 

Fund Fund Fund Funds 
Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,244,340 $ 249,319 $ 1,864,300 $ 771,148 
Investments 542,779 48,372 
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles) 

Property taxes 16,326 11,776 -
Accounts 40,807 -
Court fines and fees 96,489 -
Lease 501,446 -

Due from other funds 708,622 -
Due from other governments 349,876 -

Total assets $ 6,792,063 $ 261,095 $ 2,572,922 $ 819,520 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable $ 678,307 $ $ 710,537 $ 1,892 
Payroll liabilities 47,804 -
Due to other funds 708,622 -
Court bonds escrow 7,185 -
Unearned revenue - franchise taxes 55,215 -
Retainage payable 22,366 414,568 -

Total liabilities 1,519,499 1,125,105 1,892 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Unavailable revenue - court fines 96,489 -
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 15,865 11,776 -
Unavailable revenue - leases 496,269 -

Total deferred inflows of resources 608,623 11,776 -

Fund balances 
Restricted 138,353 249,319 1,447,817 817,628 
Unassigned 4,525,588 -

Total fund balances 4,663,941 249,319 1,447,817 817,628 

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, and fund balances $ 6,792,063 $ 261,095 $ 2,572,922 $ 819,520 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because: 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the g overnmental funds. 

Deferred outflows of resources are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

ct borrowings, Some assets and liabilities, including general obligation bonds, certificates of obligation, tax notes, notes from dire 
premiums on debt, lease liabilties, net pension asset, compensated absences, and total OPES liability are not du e and payable in the 
current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

Revenues earned but not available within 60 days of year-end are not recognized as revenue on the fund financia 

Deferred inflows of resources related to pension and OPES are not financial resources and, therefore, are not rep 

Net position of governmental activities - statement of net position 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

I statements. 

orted in the funds. 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

$ 8,129,107 
591,151 

28,102 
40,807 
96,489 

501,446 
708,622 
349,876 

$ 10,445,600 

$ 1,390,736 
47,804 

708,622 
7,185 

55,215 
436,934 

2,646,496 

96,489 
27,641 

496,269 

620,399 

2,653,117 
4,525,588 

7,178,705 

27,160,545 

202,533 

(28,916,463) 

620,399 

(515,416) 

$ 5,730,303 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds 

Revenues 
Taxes: 

Property 
Sales and use 
Franchise 
Hotel occupancy tax 
TIRZ 

Licenses and permits 
Drainage fees 
Court fines and fees 
Grants 
Investment earnings 
Intergovernmental 
Contributions 
Rental income 
Other revenue 

Total revenues 

Expenditures 
Current: 

Administration 
Development services 
Fire and rescue 
Legislative 
Municipal Court 
Police 
Public works, parks, and roads 

Capital outlay 
Debt service: 

Principal 
Interest and fiscal charges 
Certificate of obligation issuance costs 

Total expenditures 

Excess {deficiency) of revenues over 
(under) expenditures 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 
Proceeds from certificate of obligation issuance 
Premium on issuance of long-term debt 
Proceeds from issuance of lease liability 
Special item: 

Loss on transfer of operations 

Total other financing sources (uses) 

Net change in fund balances 

Fund balances, beginning of year 

Fund balances, end of year 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 

$ 

$ 

General 
Fund 

1,901,676 
2,217,931 

411,357 

422,007 
363,456 
300,253 

5,049 
219,613 
56,151 

9,893 
41,549 
18,640 

5,967,575 

648,278 
580,107 
826,389 
200,797 
188,843 

1,784,356 
385,881 

10,646,980 

290,567 
176,100 
225,044 

15,953,342 

(9,985,767) 

9,340 
8,500,000 

225,044 
176,562 

(610,704) 

8,300,242 

{1,685,525) 

6,349,466 

4,663,941 

$ 

$ 

Debt 
Service 
Fund 

1,706,468 

15,445 

1,721,913 

1,245,630 
527,044 

1,772,674 

(50,761) 

(50,761) 

300,080 

249,319 

Roads Capital 
Projects 

Fund 

$ 

127,885 

127,885 

3,783,230 

3,783,230 

(3,655,345) 

(3,655,345) 

5,103,162 

$ 1,447,817 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

$ 

Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

-
-
-

243,759 
349,784 

-
-

22,873 
-

14,997 
-

124,308 
-
-

755,721 

-
350,000 

91,131 
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

441,131 

314,590 

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

314,590 

503,038 

$ 817,628 

$ 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

3,608,144 
2,217,931 

411,357 
243,759 
349,784 
422,007 
363,456 
323,126 

5,049 
377,940 

56,151 
134,201 
41,549 
18,640 

8,573,094 

648,278 
930,107 
917,520 
200,797 
188,843 

1,784,356 
385,881 

14,430,210 

1,536,197 
703,144 
225,044 

21,950,377 

{13,377,283) 

9,340 
8,500,000 

225,044 
176,562 

-
{610,7041 

8,300,242 

(5,077,041) 

12,255,746 

$ 7,178,705 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances of the Governmental Funds to the 

Statement of Activities 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because: 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However in the statement of activities, assets are 
capitalized and the costs are allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. 
This is the amount by which capital outlay exceeded depreciation in the current period. 

Capital outlay $ 14,430,210 
Depreciation expense (1,081,921) 

All proceeds from the sale of capital assets are reported as revenue in the funds. However, in the statement of 
activities, only the gain or loss on disposal is reported. 

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and, 
therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the funds. 

Amortization of premium on debt 
Net pension liability (asset) 
Compensated absences 
Total OPEB liability 

$ 108,432 
(255,089) 
131,619 

31,644 

The change in taxes receivable, net of allowance, is reported as revenue in the statement of activities; however, 
this change does not provide current financial resources and is, therefore, not reported as revenue in the funds. 

Certain revenues in the government-wide statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources 
are not reported as revenue in the governmental funds. 

Pension expense in the funds is recorded as contributions when made to the TMRS plan. Pension expense in 
governmental activities is recorded as the TMRS plan's pension expense for the measurement period. This is 
the effect of the difference between the two statements. 

OPEB expense in the funds is recorded as contributions when made to the TMRS plan. OPEB expense in 
governmental activities is recorded as the TMRS plan's OPEB expense for the measurement period. This is the 
effect of the difference between the two statements. 

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds payable, notes payable, and leases) provides current financial 
resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current 
financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position. This 
amount is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items. 

Long-term obligation principal repayments 
Payments on lease liabilities 
Proceeds from certificates of obligations issuance 
Premium on issuance of debt 
Proceeds from the issuance of lease liabilities 

Change in net position of governmental activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

$ 2,785,766 
90,567 

(8,500,000) 
(225,044) 
(176,562) 

$ (5,077,041) 

13,348,289 

(1,149,519) 

16,606 

1,990 

29,603 

246,580 

(38,644) 

(6,025,273) 

$ 1,352,591 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Statement of Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
September 30, 2023 

Water Wastewater Solid Waste Totals 
Assets 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,683,892 $ 13,456,296 $ 300,294 $ 15,440,482 
Investments 1,590,047 55,810 1,645,857 
Receivables (net of allowances): 

Accounts 447,525 100,651 47,151 595,327 
Due from other governments 8,422,287 8,422,287 

Restricted assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,575,313 510,358 2,085,671 
Certificates of deposit 108,511 108,511 

Total current assets 13,827,575 14,123,115 347,445 28,298,135 

Noncurrent assets 
Capltal assets and right-to-use assets 

Nondepreciable 271,397 2,006,506 2,277,903 
Depreciable / amortizable 24,150,376 6,466,489 30,616,865 
Less: accumulated depreciation / amortization (5,662,008) (2,704,993) (8,367,001) 

Capital assets, net 18,759,765 5,768,002 24,527,767 

Total noncurrent assets 18,759,765 5,768,002 24,527,767 

Total assets 32,587,340 19,891,117 347,445 52,825,902 

Deferred outflows of resources 
Deferred outflows related to pensions 69,360 5,549 74,909 

Total deferred outflows of resources 69,360 5,549 74,909 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 

Accounts payable 348,148 206,540 29,408 584,096 
Payroll liabillties 12,473 2,564 15,037 
Due to other governments 312,735 312,735 
Retainage payable 41,664 41,664 
Unearned revenue -
Current portion of long-term obligations 870,412 622,469 1,492,881 

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets: 
Interest payable 39,348 30,149 69,497 
Customer deposits 237,216 237,216 

Total current liabilities 1,820,332 903,386 29,408 2,753,126 

Noncurrent liabillties 
Net pension liabillty 70,257 5,620 75,877 
Total OPEB liability 19,434 1,555 20,989 
Long-term obligations 19,766,799 15,225,000 34,991,799 

Total noncurrent liabilities 19,856,490 15,232,175 35,088,665 

Total liabilities 21,676,822 16,135,561 29,408 37,841,791 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 6,558 525 7,083 

Total deferred inflows of resources 6,558 525 7,083 

Net Position 
Net investment in capltal assets (992,760) 2,775,008 1,782,248 
Restricted for capltal projects 2,057,231 965,103 3,022,334 
Unrestricted 9,908,849 20,469 318,037 10,247,355 

Total net position $ 10,973,320 $ 3,760,580 $ 318,037 $ 15,051,937 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 21 37
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Water Wastewater Solid Waste Totals 
Operating revenues 

Charges for services $ 3,010,904 $ 806,209 $ 363,988 $ 4,181,101 
Impact fees 73,337 56,298 129,635 
Tap fees 1,500 1,500 
Other fees 81,956 81,956 

Total operating revenues 3,167,697 862,507 363,988 4,394,192 

Operating expenses 
Personnel 950,277 137,503 1,087,780 
Contractual services 584,408 243,364 311,488 1,139,260 
Supplies 413,321 68,835 482,156 
Franchise fees 129,978 37,220 167,198 
Utilities 157,509 112,909 270,418 
Depreciation / amortization 425,474 181,014 606,488 

Total operating expenses 2,660,967 780,845 311,488 3,753,300 

Operating income 506,730 81,662 52,500 640,892 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 2,961,449 295,940 
Investment earnings 155,585 86,254 8,442 250,281 
Interest and fiscal charges (300,482) (244,521) (545,003) 
Capital grants 961,429 961,429 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (144,897) 803,162 8,442 666,707 

Income before transfers and contributions 361,833 884,824 60,942 1,307,599 

Transfers and contributions 
Capital contributions 378,213 378,213 
Transfers in 414,655 414,655 
Transfers out (414,655) (414,655) 

Total contributions (36,442) 414,655 378,213 

Change in net position 325,391 1,299,479 60,942 1,685,812 

Net position, beginning of year 10,647,929 2,461,101 257,095 13,366,125 

Net position, end of year $ 10,973,320 $ 3,760,580 $ 318,037 $ 15,051,937 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 22 38

Item 2.



City of Willow Park, Texas 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Water Wastewater Solid Waste Totals 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Cash received from customers $ 3,097,675 $ 840,690 $ 354,315 $ 4,292,680 
Cash paid to suppliers (1,072,282) (695,334) (309,916) (2,077,532) 
Cash paid to employees (941,556) (136,153) (1,077,709) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,083,837 9,203 44,399 1,137,439 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities: 
Principal payments on long-term debt (755,390) (615,000) (1,370,390) 
Proceeds from issuance of lease liability 36,171 36,171 
Principal payments on lease liability (40,394) (4,722) (45,116) 
Payments from other governments 686,740 961,429 1,648,169 
Payments to other governments (2,439,212) (2,439,212) 
Capital asset purchases (1,954,368) (1,012,702) (2,967,070) 
Capital contributions 378,213 378,213 
Transfers from (to) other funds (414,655) 414,655 " 

Interest paid on long-term debt (308,478) (245,530) (554,008) 

Net cash used for capital and related financing activities (4,811,373) (501,870) (5,313,243) 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Interest income 83,672 83,786 8,442 175,900 

Net cash provided by investing activities 83,672 83,786 8,442 175,900 

Net increease (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,643,864) (408,881) 52,841 (3,999,904) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,903,069 14,375,535 247,453 21,526,057 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 3,259,205 $ 13,966,654 $ 300,294 $ 17,526,153 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,683,892 $ 13,456,296 $ 300,294 $ 15,440,482 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,575,313 510,358 2,085,671 

Total cash and cash equivalents - end of year $ 3,259,205 $ 13,966,654 $ 300,294 $ 17,526,153 

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash 
provided by operating activities 

Operating income $ 506,730 $ 81,662 $ 52,500 $ 640,892 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 

provided by (used for) operating activities: 
Depreciation / amortization expense 425,474 181,014 606,488 
(Increase) decrease in assets: 

Accounts receivable (83,239) (21,817) (9,673) (114,729) 
Deferred outflows (84,444) (6,756) (91,200) 

(Increase) decrease in liabilities: 
Accounts payable 212,934 (233,006) 1,572 (18,500) 
Payroll liabilities 3,407 926 4,333 
Customer deposits 13,217 13,217 
Net pension asset 87,360 6,988 94,348 
OPEB liability (10,837) (867) (11,704) 
Compensated absences payable " 

Deferred inflows 13,235 1,059 14,294 

Net cash provided by operating activities: $ 1,083,837 $ 9,203 $ 44,399 $ 1,137,439 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 23 39

Item 2.



City of Willow Park, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2023 

Note A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of the City of Willow Park, Texas (the City) conform to accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governments. The following 
are the most significant accounting policies. 

Financial Reporting Entity 

The City was formed as an incorporated city in the state of Texas in 1963. The City is governed by 
an elected mayor and five-member City Council, and provides the following services to the citizens 
of the City: administration, development services, fire and rescue, legislative, municipal court, 
police, public works, parks, and roads, water, wastewater, and solid waste. 

The financial statements of the City are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The City's reporting entity applies all relevant 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The two government-wide financial statements, the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities, report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the City. Governmental 
activities, which include those activities primarily supported by taxes or intergovernmental revenue, 
are reported separately from business-type activities, which generally rely on fees and charges for 
support. As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government­
wide financial statements. 

The Statement of Activities reflects the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with 
a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants 
who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given 
function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other revenues not categorized as 
program revenues are reported as general revenues. 

Fund Financial Statements 

The City segregates transactions related to certain functions or activities in separate funds to aid 
financial management activities and to demonstrate legal compliance. Separate financial 
statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. These statements present 
each major fund as a separate column on the fund financial statements, while all nonmajor funds 
are aggregated and presented in a single column. Detailed statements for nonmajor funds are 
presented within the Supplementary Information section. 
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September 30, 2023 

Note A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Governmental Funds 

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed. 
The measurement focus of governmental funds is on the sources, uses, and balances of current 
financial resources while the modified accrual basis of accounting is used. The City reports the 
following major governmental funds: 

General Fund is the main operating fund of the City. This fund is used to account for all the 
financial resources that are not accounted for in other funds. All general tax revenues and 
other receipts that are not restricted by law or contractual agreement to another fund are 
accounted for in this fund. General operating expenditures, fixed charges, and capital 
improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General Fund. 

Debt Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the payment of 
principal, interest, and related costs on long-term obligations paid primarily from taxes levied 
by the City. The fund balance of the Debt Service Fund is reserved to signify the amounts 
that are restricted exclusively for debt service expenditures. 

Road Capital Proiects Fund accounts for the proceeds of certificates of obligation used for 
the acquisition or construction of major capital improvements as established in bond 
documents. 

Proprietary Funds 

Proprietary funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting. The accounting objectives are determinations of net income, financial 
position, and cash flows. All assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows 
of resources are included in the Statement of Net Position. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal 
operating revenues of the City's proprietary funds are charges to customers for sales and services. 
Operating expenses for the proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, personnel and 
contractual services, supplies, franchise fees, utilities, and depreciation/amortization on capital 
assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating 
revenues and expenses. 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

Water Fund accounts for the provision of regional water services to residential, commercial, 
industrial, and irrigation customers. All costs are financed through charges and rates based 
on the amount of service used, which is billed to customers and collected on a monthly 
basis. Rates are reviewed regularly and adjusted as necessary to ensure the integrity of the 
system. 
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Note A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued) 

Wastewater Fund accounts for the provision of regional wastewater services to residential, 
commercial, industrial, and irrigation customers. All costs are financed through charges and 
rates based on the amount of service used, which is billed to customers and collected on a 
monthly basis. Rates are reviewed regularly and adjusted as necessary to ensure the 
integrity of the system. 

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

The government-wide financial statements and the proprietary funds are reported and accounted 
for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. With 
this measurement focus, all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows 
of resources associated with the operation of these activities are included in the Statement of Net 
Position. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when liabilities are 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues 
in the year for which they are levied. Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal year in which 
all eligibility requirements have been met. 

The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. This focus is on the 
determination of and changes in financial position. Revenues are recognized in the accounting 
period in which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current 
fiscal period. Revenues from taxes are considered available if received within 60 days after the 
fiscal year-end. Revenue from contributions and other grants are recognized when applicable 
eligibility requirements, including time requirements, are met and are considered available if 
received within 60 days after the fiscal year-end. Program revenues such as fines, licenses and 
permits, and other charges for services are considered to be measurable and available when cash 
is received. Expenditures are recorded when the related liability is incurred and payment is due, 
except for principal and interest on long-term debt and certain estimated liabilities which are 
recorded only when the obligation has matured and is due and payable shortly after year-end as 
required by GAAP. 

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements: 

1. Prior to the beginning of the fiscal year, the City Manager submits to the City Council 
proposed operating budgets, which include proposed expenditures and the means of 
financing them. 

2. The City Council adopts the proposed budget, with or without amendment, after public 
hearings and before the first day of the ensuing fiscal year. 

3. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with GAAP. 

4. Unused appropriations of the above annually budgeted funds lapse at the end of each 
fiscal year. 

5. The City Council may authorize additional appropriations during the year. 
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Note A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued) 

The City adopts a budget annually for the General Fund and the budgetary comparison schedules 
are presented with required supplementary information. The City does not adopt a budget for the 
Debt Service Fund or the Roads Capital Projects Fund. 

Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, expenditures exceed appropriations in the General Fund. 
These excess expenditures were covered by available fund balance and the issuance of long-term 
debt. 

Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of the accompanying Statement of Cash Flows, the City considers all highly liquid 
investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g. streets, 
bridges, sidewalks, curbs, and drainage systems), are reported in the applicable governmental 
activities or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements and in the 
proprietary funds' financial statements. The City defines capital assets as assets with an initial 
individual cost of more than $2,500 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Donated 
capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. Right-of-use 
assets are reported at present value of the future lease payments (lease liability), plus any ancillary 
cost to place the asset in service, plus any additional payments made at the beginning of the lease 
term, less any lease incentives received from the lessor prior to the commencement of the lease 
term. 

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that does not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend an asset's life is not capitalized. Capital assets are depreciated/amortized using 
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

Buildings and improvements 
Furniture and equipment 
Vehicles 
Infrastructure 
Water and wastewater systems 
Right-of-use asset 

5-40 years 
5-20 years 
5-10 years 

20 years 
25-40 years 

5 years 
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Note A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Long-term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are 
reported as liabilities. On certificates of obligation and bonds payable, premiums and discounts are 
deferred and amortized over the life of the debt. Certificates of obligation and bonds payable are 
reported net of the applicable premium or discount. Issuance costs are recognized in the current 
period. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize debt premiums and discounts, 
as well as issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of the debt issued and any 
applicable premium or discount are reported as other financing sources. Issuance costs, whether or 
not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, and the debt repayment are reported as 
expenditures. 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of net position and balance sheet will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, 
deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position and/or fund balance that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. The City currently has deferred outflows of resources related to 
the pension plan reported in the Statement of Net Position. See additional information in Note K. 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and balance sheet include a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position and/or fund balance that applies to a future 
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City 
currently has deferred inflows of resources related to unavailable revenue from property taxes, 
court fines, and leases reported in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and deferred inflows of 
resources related to leases and the other post-employment benefits (OPES) plan reported in the 
Statement of Net Position. See additional information in Note L. 

Fund Balance 

The City adopted a fund balance policy in accordance with GASS Statement No. 54, Fund Balance 
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. 

Governmental fund balances classified as restricted are balances with constraints placed on the 
use of resources by creditors, granters, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments. 
Non-spendable fund balance includes amounts that are not in spendable form, or legally or 
contractually required to be maintained intact. Fund balances classified as committed can only be 
used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by the City Council through an 
ordinance. Assigned fund balances are constrained by an intent to be used for specific purposes 
but are neither restricted nor committed. Assignments are made by the City CFO or the City 
Manager. Unassigned fund balance is the amount in the general fund in excess of what can be 
classified in one of the other four categories of fund balance. Unassigned amounts are technically 
available for any purpose. 
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Note A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Except when expenditures are specifically budgeted and when multiple categories of fund balance 
are available for expenditure, the City will first spend the most restricted funds before moving down 
to the next most restrictive category with available funds but will have the option to spend budgeted 
funds first. 

Net Position 

In the government-wide financial statements, net position is classified in the following categories: 

Net investment in capital assets - This category consists of all capital assets net of 
accumulated depreciation/amortization and reduced by outstanding balances of debt that are 
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of these assets. 

Restricted net position - This category consists of external restrictions imposed by creditors, 
granters, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, enabling legislation, and 
constitutional provisions. 

Unrestricted net position - This category represents net position, not restricted for any project 
or other purpose. 

When both restricted and unrestricted net position is available for use, it is the City's policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. 

Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the Net Pension Liability (Asset), deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 
Fiduciary Net Position of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and additions 
to/deductions from TMRS's Fiduciary Net Position have been determined on the same basis as 
they are reported by TMRS. For this purpose, plan contributions are recognized in the period that 
compensation is reported for the employee, which is when contributions are legally due. Benefit 
payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 
Investments are reported at fair value. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits 

The total OPEB liability has been determined using the economic resources measurement focus 
and full accrual basis of accounting. This includes, for purposes of measuring the total OPEB 
liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to other post­
employment benefits; OPEB expense; and information about assets, liabilities, and additions 
to/deductions from these amounts. 
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Note A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. These risks are covered 
by the City's participation in the Texas Municipal League Intergovernmental Risk Pool (TMLIRP) for 
liability, property, and workers' compensation insurance. These are self-sustaining risk pools 
operated on a statewide basis for the benefit of several hundred Texas cities and other public 
entities. The City pays annual premiums to the TMLIRP, which retains the risk of loss for property, 
liability insurance, and workers' compensation. 

There have been no significant reductions in coverage in the current fiscal year and there have 
been no settlements exceeding insurance coverage in the current year or the past three fiscal 
years. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Implementation of New Accounting Standard 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the City implemented Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. 
This statement establishes requirements for accounting for applicable subscription-based 
information technology arrangements (SBITAs) based on the principle that a subscription asset 
derives from contracts that convey control of the right to use another entity's information technology 
software, alone or in combinations with tangible capital assets, for a specified period. In accordance 
with this statement, a government is required to recognize an intangible right-to-use subscription 
asset and a corresponding subscription liability. This statement was adopted by the City as of 
October 1, 2022. There was no effect on beginning net position or fund balances due to the 
implementation of this standard. 

Note 8. Deposits and Investments 

Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code (the Public Funds Investment Act) authorizes the City 
to invest its funds under a written investment policy (the Investment Policy) that primarily 
emphasizes safety of principal, availability of liquidity to meet the City's obligations, and market rate 
of return. The Investment Policy defines what constitutes the legal list of investments allowed under 
the policy, which excludes certain investment instruments allowed under Chapter 2256 of the Texas 
Government Code. 

The City's deposits and investments are invested pursuant to the Investment Policy. The 
Investment Policy includes a list of authorized investment instruments and a maximum allowable 
stated maturity of any individual investment. In addition, it includes an "Investment Strategy" that 
specifically addresses each fund's investment options and describes the priorities of safety, 
liquidity, yield, and public trust. 
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Note B. Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

The City is authorized to invest in the following investment instruments provided that they meet the 
guidelines of the Investment Policy: 

1. Obligations of the United States of America, its agencies and instrumentalities, which have a 
liquid market with a readily determinable market value. 

2. Direct obligations of the State of Texas and agencies thereof. 

3. Other obligations, the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by 
the State of Texas or the United States of America. 

4. Obligations of the States, agencies thereof, Counties, Cities, and other political subdivisions 
of any state having been rated as investment quality by a nationally recognized investment 
rating firm, and having received a rating of not less than "A" or it's equivalent. 

5. Certificates of Deposit of state and national banks domiciled in Texas, guaranteed or 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance or it's successor or secured by obligations 
described in 1 through 4 above, or as further described in the Investment Policy. 

6. Fully collateralized direct repurchase agreements with a defined termination date secured by 
obligations of the United States or it's agencies and instrumentalities pledged with a third 
party, selected by the Director of Finance, other than an agency for the pledger. 

7. Joint pools of political subdivisions in the State of Texas which invest in instruments and 
follow practices allowed by current law. 

External Investment Pools 

As of September 30, 2023, the City's investments consisted of external investment pools, in 
compliance with the City's Investment Policy. The following investment is organized in conformity 
with the lnterlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, and the Public 
Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code: 

Texas Short Term Asset Reserve Program (TexSTAR) is a public funds investment pool 
governed by a board of directors. The Pool maintains an advisory board composed of 
participants in the Pool and other persons who do not have a business relationship with the 
Pool. Members are appointed and serve at the will of the Board. TexSTAR is rated AAAm by 
Standard and Poor's. 

The external investment pool uses amortized cost to value portfolio assets and follows the criteria 
established by GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants. 
The stated objective of the pool is to maintain a stable average of $1.00 per unit net asset value. 
There are no limitations or restrictions on withdrawals. 
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Note 8. Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Custodial Credit Risk 

Deposits are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are not covered by depository insurance and 
the deposits are uncollateralized, collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial 
institutions, or collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution's trust 
department or agent but not in the City's name. Investment securities are exposed to custodial 
credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the government, and are 
held by either the counterparty or the counterparty's trust department or agent but not in the City's 
name. At year-end, the City was not exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty of an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. The ratings of securities by nationally recognized rating agencies are designed to give 
an indication of credit risk. At year end, the City was not significantly exposed to credit risk. At 
September 30, 2023, the City's investment in TexSTAR was rated as to credit quality as AAAm. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

This risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a single 
issuer. At fiscal year-end, the City was not exposed to the concentration of credit risk. 

Interest Rate Risk 

In accordance with its Investment Policy, the City manages its risk of market price changes by 
avoiding over-concentration of assets in specific maturity sectors, limitation of average maturity of 
operating funds investments to one year, and avoidance of over-concentration of assets in specific 
instruments other than U.S. Treasury Securities and insured or collateralized certificates of deposit. 
As of September 30, 2023, the City was not invested in any securities which are highly sensitive to 
interest rate fluctuation. 

The City's investments at September 30, 2023 included the following: 

Investments measured at amortized cost/NAV: 
TexSTAR 

September 30, 
2023 

$ 2,237,008 

Weighted 
Average 
I\Aaturity 
(in days) 

30 
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September 30, 2023 

Some of the City's assets have certain constraints that have been placed on how they can be used. 
By definition, restricted assets are non-current cash or other assets whose use, in whole or in part, 
is restricted for specific purposes bound by virtue of contractual agreement, legal requirements, or 
enabling legislation. The following cash and cash equivalents and certificates of deposit in the 
governmental and enterprise funds are restricted for the following purposes: 

Texas Water Development Board Escrow 
Texas Water Development Board Interest & Sinking 
Unspent bond proceeds 
Grants 
Debt service 
Water impact fees 
Wastewater impact fees 
Customer deposits 
First responder donations 
Truancy prevention 
Police donations 

Total restricted cash and cash equiavlents 

Note D. Restricted Fund Balance 

$ 685,550 
666,699 
130,732 

48 
249,319 
396,649 
205,993 
108,511 
136,217 
26,476 

544 

$ 2,606,738 

Details of the City's restricted fund balance in the governmental funds financial statements are as 
follows: 

Roads capital projects $ 1,447,817 
Debt service 249,319 
Court security 58,158 
Court technology 62,750 
Police seizure funds 4,848 
Tourism 466,784 
Police and first responder contributions 134,869 
Local truancy prevention 26,476 
Other capital projects 63,743 
Public access channel capital projects 138,353 

Total Restricted Fund Balance $ 2,653,117 
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September 30, 2023 

Ad valorem taxes are levied each October 1 from valuations assessed as of the prior January 1 and 
are recognized as revenue when they become available beginning on the date of levy, October 1. 
Taxes are due on receipt of the tax bill and are delinquent if not paid before February 1 of the year 
following the year in which imposed. On January 1 of each year, a tax lien attaches to property to 
secure the payment of all taxes, penalties, and interest ultimately imposed. Available means 
collected within the current period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to 
pay current liabilities. In the governmental fund financial statements, taxes not expected to be 
collected within sixty days of the fiscal year end are recorded as unearned revenues and are 
recognized when they become available. Taxes collected prior to the levy date to which they apply 
are recorded as deferred inflows of resources and recognized as revenue of the period to which 
they apply. 

Note F. lnterfund Balances and Activity 

Balances due to and due from other funds at September 30, 2023 consisted $708,622 due to the 
Roads Capital Projects Fund from the General Fund as a reimbursement for capital expenditures 
paid out of the General Fund. This is scheduled to be repaid within one year. 

Transfers to and from other funds for the year ended September 30, 2023 consisted of $414,655 
transferred from the Water Fund to the Waste Water Fund for operating expenses. 
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Note G. Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2023 for governmental activities was as 
follows: 

Balance Transfers/ Transfers/ Balance 

10/1/2022 Additions Deletions 9/30/2023 
Governmental activities 

Capital assets not being depreciated I amortized 

Land $ 126,027 $ 832,966 $ $ 958,993 
Construction in progress 502,321 5,812,051 6,314,372 

Total capital assets not being depreciated I 
amortized 628,348 6,645,017 7,273,365 

Other capital assets 
Buildings and improvements 6,903,332 7,366,251 14,269,583 
Furniture and equipment 1,301,301 7,599 582,631 726,269 
Vehicles 3,144,264 39,308 2,555,207 628,365 
Infrastructure 10,690,577 195,473 10,886,050 
Right-of-use assets - vehicles 339,345 176,562 515,907 

Total other capital assets 22,378,819 7,785,193 3,137,838 27,026,174 

Less accumulated depreciation/ amortization for: 
Buildings and improvements 868,643 338,237 1,206,880 
Furniture and equipment 887,886 89,452 551,541 425,797 
Vehicles 1,918,629 108,778 1,436,778 590,629 
Infrastructure 4,172,099 521,857 4,693,956 
Right-of-use assets - vehicles 198,135 23,597 221,732 

Total accumulated depreciation/ amortization 8,045,392 1,081,921 1,988,319 7,138,994 

Other capital assets, net 14,333,427 6,703,272 1,149,519 19,887,180 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $14,961,775 $ 13,348,289 $ 1,149,519 $27,160,545 

35 51

Item 2.



City of Willow Park, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2023 
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Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2023 for business-type activities was as 
follows: 

Balance Transfers/ Transfers/ Balance 
10/1/2022 Additions Deletions 9/30/2023 

Business-type activities 

Capital assets not being depreciated / amortized 
Land $ 394,576 $ $ $ 394,576 
Construction in progress 10,774,452 2,146,995 11,038,120 1,883,327 

Total capital assets not being depreciated/ 
amortized 11,169,028 2,146,995 11,038,120 2,277,903 

Other capital assets 
Buildings and improvements 79,050 79,050 
Furniture and equipment 864,422 180,303 1,044,725 
Vehicles 394,738 394,738 
Water system 12,229,875 10,236,730 22,466,605 
Wastewater system 5,600,271 801,390 6,401,661 
Right-of-use assets - vehicles 193,915 36,171 230,086 

Total other capital assets 19,362,271 11,254,594 30,616,865 

Less accumulated depreciation/ amortization for: 
Buildings and improvements 35,433 1,976 37,409 
Furniture and equipment 564,712 66,304 631,016 
Vehicles 277,016 24,969 301,985 
Water system 5,176,986 312,638 5,489,624 
Wastewater system 1,606,019 180,147 1,786,166 
Right-of-use assets - vehicles 100,347 20,454 120,801 

Total accumulated depreciation/ amortization 7,760,513 606,488 8,367,001 

Other capital assets, net 11,601,758 10,648,106 22,249,864 

Business-type activities capital assets, net $22,770,786 $12,795,101 $ 11,038,120 $24,527,767 

36 52

Item 2.



City of Willow Park, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2023 

Note G. Capital Assets {Continued) 

Depreciation/ amortization expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government 
as follows: 

Governmental activities: 
Administration 
Development services 
Fire and rescue 
Police 
Public works, parks, and roads 

Total governmental activities 

Business-type activities: 
Water 
Wastewater 

Total business-type activities 

Note H. Long-Term Liabilities 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Long-term liabilities at September 30, 2023 consists of the following: 

Governmental Activities 

General Obligation Bonds 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 
• To refund the Certificates of Obligation, Series 2003. 
• Original balance of $4,190,000. 

579,747 
253 

157,351 
152,238 
192,332 

1,081,921 

425,474 
181,014 

606,488 

• Payable in annual installments of $275,000 to $520,000, maturing February 15, 2023. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 2.0% to 3.0%. 
• Fully repaid at September 30, 2023. 

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2016 
• For the construction of public safety facilities for police and fire, and to finance various 

infrastructure improvement projects. 
• Original balance of $6,330,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $165,000 to $445,000, maturing February 15, 2046. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 4.0%. 
• Outstanding balance of $6,330,000 at September 30, 2023. 
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Note H. Long-Term Liabilities (Continued) 

Certificates of Obligation 

Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System (Limited Pledge) Revenue Certificates of Obligation, 
Series 2015 

• To finance the purchase of equipment, machinery, vehicles, materials, and supplies for 
the public safety and public works departments. 

• Original balance of $866,438. 
• Payable in annual installments of $29,614 to $86,417, maturing February 15, 2031. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 2.14%. 
• Outstanding balance of $277,126 at September 30, 2023. 

Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022 
• To finance various infrastructure projects and to finance the improvements to the City's 

parks facilities. 
• Original balance of$5,045,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $45,000 to $535,000, maturing February 15, 2036. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 3.0% to 4.0%. 
• Outstanding balance of $5,045,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022A 
• To finance the improvement of the municipal drainage utility system. 
• Original balance of $3,980,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $190,000 to $360,000, maturing February 15, 2037. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 4.0% to 5.0%. 
• Outstanding balance of $3,780,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2023 
• To finance the purchase of new city hall facilities. 
• Original balance of $4,310,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $70,000 to $275,000, maturing February 15, 2053. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 4.0% to 6.5%. 
• Outstanding balance of $4,310,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2023A 
• To finance the purchase of new city hall facilities. 
• Original balance of $4, 1900,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $70,000 to $300,000, maturing February 15, 2053. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 4.85% to 5.9%. 
• Outstanding balance of $4,190,000 at September 30, 2023. 
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Note H. Long-Term Liabilities (Continued) 

Tax Notes 

Tax Notes, Series 2018 
• To finance the acquisition, construction, improvement and maintenance of the City's 

streets, thoroughfares, bridges, alleyways, and sidewalks. 
• Original balance of $875,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $105,000 to $150,000, maturing February 15, 2025. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 2.81 %. 
• Outstanding balance of $280,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Tax Notes, Series 2018A 
• To finance the construction and improvements to the City's public safety facilities. 
• Original balance of $640,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $15,000 to $150,000, maturing February 15, 2025. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 2.76%. 
• Outstanding balance of $290,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Tax Notes, Series 2019 
• To finance various infrastructure projects, including constructing draining improvements, 

and to finance the purchase of playground equipment for the City's parks. 
• Original balance of $2,365,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $105,000 to $810,000, maturing February 15, 2026. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 2.15%. 
• Outstanding balance of $1,730,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Notes from Direct Borrowings 

Brush Truck 
• To fund the purchase of one brush truck for the fire department. 
• Original balance of $77,347. 
• Payable in annual installments of $9,106 including principal and interest, maturing 

February 28, 2024. 
• Interest payable annually on February 28 at 3.626%. 
• Outstanding balance of $8,786 at September 30, 2023. 

Fire Truck 
• To fund the purchase of one fire truck. 
• Original balance of $406,651. 
• Payable in annual installments of $48,292 including principal and interest, maturing April 

21, 2027. 
• Interest payable annually on April 21 at 3.28%. 
• Full repaid at September 30, 2023. See Note N. 
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Note H. Long-Term Liabilities {Continued) 

Radios & Equipment 
• To fund the purchase of radios and equipment for the fire and police departments. 
• Original balance of $373,072. 
• Payable in annual installments of $47,013 including principal and interest, maturing 

October 30, 2028. 
• Interest payable annually on October 30 at 4.38% 
• Outstanding balance of $210,066 at September 30, 2023. 

Ladder Truck 
• To fund the purchase of a Chassis ladder truck. 
• Original balance of $1,499,005. 
• Payable in annual installments of $195,651 including principal and interest, maturing 

January 16, 2030. 
• Interest payable annually on January 16 at 4.29% 
• Full repaid at September 30, 2023. See Note N. 

The annual requirements to amortize long-term debt as of September 30, 2023 are as follows: 

Year General Obligation Bonds Certificates of Obligation 
Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2024 $ 325,000 $ 225,300 $ 228,538 $ 718,646 
2025 340,000 212,000 238,532 676,252 
2026 355,000 198,100 248,525 665,178 
2027 380,000 183,400 394,614 649,427 
2028 395,000 167,900 417,306 631,078 

2029-2033 1,625,000 608,100 3,164,611 2,806,363 
2034-2038 980,000 381,050 4,735,000 1,869,115 
2039-2043 1,150,000 205,350 3,585,000 1,110,813 
2044-2048 780,000 35,700 2,000,000 659,182 
2049-2053 2,590,000 230,117 

Total $ 6,330,000 $ 2,216,900 $ 17,602,126 $ 10,016,171 

Notes from 
Year Tax Notes Direct Borrowings 

Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2024 $ 720,000 $ 44,439 $ 45,138 $ 10,981 
2025 770,000 26,613 37,943 9,070 
2026 810,000 8,708 39,605 7,408 
2027 41,340 5,673 
2028 43,150 3,863 

2029-2033 11,676 1,973 

Total $ 2,300,000 $ 79,760 $ 218,852 $ 38,968 
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Note H. Long-Term Liabilities (Continued) 

Business-type activities 

General Obligation Bonds 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 

• To refund the Certificates of Obligation, Series 2003. 
• Original balance of $945,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $10,000 to $105,000, maturing February 15, 2023. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 2.0% to 3.0%. 
• Fully repaid at September 30, 2023. 

Certificates of Obligation 

Combination Tax and Water and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, 
Series 2014 (Texas Water Development Board Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (TWDB 
DWSRF)) 

• To finance the improvement of the municipal water system. 
• Original balance of $685,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $30,000 to $40,000, maturing February 15, 2035. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 0.43% to 2.59%. 
• Outstanding balance of $445,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System (Limited Pledge) Revenue Certificates of Obligation, 
Series 2015 

• To finance the purchase of equipment, machinery, vehicles, materials, and supplies for 
the public safety and public works departments. 

• Original balance of $513,562. 
• Payable in annual installments of $18,084 to $43,583, maturing February 15, 2031. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 2.14%. 
• Outstanding balance of $217,874 at September 30, 2023. 

Combination Tax and Water and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, 
Series 2016 (TWDB DWSRF) 

• To finance the improvement of the water system properties or facilities. 
• Original balance of $995,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $45,000 to $55,000, maturing February 15, 2037. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 0.04% to 1.62%. 
• Outstanding balance of $720,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 
2017 

• To finance the improvement of the sewer properties or facilities, including Force Mains 
and a Wastewater Treatment Plant. 

• Original balance of $2,725,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $195,000 to $265,000, maturing February 15, 2032. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 2.74%. 
• Outstanding balance of $2,125,000 at September 30, 2023. 
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Note H. Long-Term Liabilities {Continued) 

Combination Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of 
Obligation, Series 2019 (TWDB DWSRF) 

• To finance the improvement of the water system properties or facilities. 
• Original balance of $13,770,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $435,000 to $510,000, maturing February 15, 2050. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 0.04% to 0.91%. 
• Outstanding balance of $12,465,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Combination Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of 
Obligation, Series 2021 

• To finance the improvement of the water system properties or facilities. 
• Original balance of $6,270,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $155,000 to $335,000, maturing February 15, 2050. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 3.00%. 
• Outstanding balance of $6,270,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Combination Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates of 
Obligation, Series 2021 (TWDB DWSRF) 

• To finance the improvement of the water system properties or facilities. 
• Original balance of $14,130,000. 
• Payable in annual installments of $410,000 to $590,000, maturing February 15, 2052. 
• Interest payable February 15 and August 15 at 0.60% to 2.11 %. 
• Outstanding balance of $13,720,000 at September 30, 2023. 

Notes from Direct Borrowings 

Freight/iner 
• To fund the purchase of one freightliner for the public works department. 
• Original balance of $156,458. 
• Payable in annual installments of $18,419 including principal and interest, maturing 

February 29, 2024. 
• Interest payable annually on February 28 at 3.20%. 
• Outstanding balance of $17,775 at September 30, 2023. 

Water Meters 
• To fund the purchase of water meters. 
• Original balance of $382,799. 
• Payable in annual installments of $82,373 including principal and interest, maturing 

March 4, 2026. 
• Interest payable annually on March 4 at 2.49%. 
• Outstanding balance of $235,303 at September 30, 2023. 
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Note H. Long-Term Liabilities (Continued) 

The annual requirements to amortize long-term debt as of September 30, 2023 are as follows: 

Notes from 

Year Certificates of Obligation Direct Borrowings 

Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2024 $ 1,321,462 $ 520,111 $ 94,287 $ 6,504 

2025 1,336,468 504,453 78,419 3,954 

2026 1,346,475 489,516 80,372 2,001 

2027 1,360,386 474,269 
2028 1,372,693 457,906 

2029-2033 6,845,390 2,019,542 
2034-2038 5,900,000 1,629,602 
2039-2043 5,995,000 1,208,834 
2044-2048 6,530,000 681,177 
2049-2053 3,955,000 126,380 

Total $ 35,962,874 $ 8,111,790 $ 253,078 $ 12,459 

43 59

Item 2.



City of Willow Park, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2023 

Note H. Long-Term Liabilities (Continued) 

The following is a summary of the changes by type of long-term liabilities for the year ended 
September 30, 2023: 

Balance Balance Due Within 
10/1/2022 Additions Retirements 9/30/2023 One Year 

Governmental activities 
General obligation bonds $ 6,850,000 $ - $ 520,000 $ 6,330,000 $ 325,000 

Certificates of obligation 9,388,543 8,500,000 286,417 17,602,126 228,538 

Tax notes 2,715,000 415,000 2,300,000 720,000 

Notes from direct borrowings 1,783,201 1,564,349 218,852 45,138 

Unamortized debt premium 1,632,317 225,044 108,432 1,748,929 130,321 

Lease liability 151,539 176,562 90,567 237,534 78,147 

Net pension liability (asset) (49,941) 419,029 163,940 205,148 

Compensated absences 261,814 68,043 199,662 130,195 130,195 

Total OPES liability 88,391 9,410 41,054 56,747 

Total governmental activities 22,820,864 9,398,088 3,389,421 28,829,531 1,657,339 

Business-tv~e activities 
General obligation bonds 105,000 105,000 

Certificates of obligation 37,136,454 1,173,580 35,962,874 1,321,462 

Notes from direct borrowings 344,885 91,807 253,078 94,287 

Unamortized debt premium 170,276 6,081 164,195 6,082 

Lease liability 75,608 36,171 45,116 66,663 33,180 

Net pension liability (asset) (18,471) 154,983 60,635 75,877 

Compensated absences 37,871 24,508 24,509 37,870 37,870 

Total OPES liability 32,693 3,480 15,184 20,989 

Total business-type activities 37,884,316 219,142 1,521,912 36,581,546 1,492,881 

Total $ 60,705,180 $ 9,617,230 $ 4,911,333 $ 65,411,077 $ 3,150,220 
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The City leases thirteen vehicles for use by the police department, fire marshal department, and 
public works, ·parks, and roads department. Each vehicle's original lease term is 60 months with 
monthly payments ranging from $327 to $1,001. Interest rates range from 3.69% to 7.97%. 

The City leases several vehicles for use by the water department and wastewater department. 
Each vehicle's original lease term is 60 months with monthly payments ranging from $419 to $7 41. 
Interest rates range from 3.80% to 7.97%. 

There were no variable payments or residual value guarantees or penalties not included in the 
measurement of the leases. The City did not have any commitments under leases not yet 
commenced at year-end, components of losses associated with asset impairments, or sublease 
transactions for fiscal year 2023. 

The annual requirements to amortize lease activity as of September 30, 2023 are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Governmental Activities Business-type Activities 
Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2024 $ 78,147 $ 13,041 $ 33,180 $ 3,141 
2025 63,261 9,066 13,272 2,017 
2026 43,489 5,589 11,113 1,119 
2027 39,965 2,606 8,370 424 
2028 12,672 275 728 5 

$ 237,534 $ 30,577 $ 66,663 $ 6,706 

Lessor 

Upon purchasing the new city hall building in May 2023, the City assumed two leases, as the 
lessor, for tenants in building. The terms of the agreements are as follows: 

Original Term 
42 months 
36 months 

Ending Date Monthly Rent 
June 30, 2026 $4,500 - $4,595 
December 31, 2026 $9,570 - $10,591 

Rent is payable on the first day of each month. Lease revenue of $39,612 and interest income of 
$7,775 were recognized for the year ended September 30, 2023. 
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September 30, 2023 

Future payments due to the City under the leases are as follows: 

Fiscal Year 
Ending Principal Interest 

2024 $147,778 $25,799 
2025 161,320 16,655 
2026 160,887 679 
2027 31,461 311 

$501,446 $43,444 

Note J. Compensated Absences and Sick Leave 

It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused compensatory time, 
vacation leave, sick leave, and holiday time benefits. Nonexempt employees may earn 
compensatory time in lieu of being paid overtime. Employees may carry over 120 hours of 
compensatory time and upon separation from employment will be paid for the time at their hourly 
rate at the time of termination. Employees may carry over a maximum of 240 hours of vacation 
leave and upon termination will be paid for vacation time up to 240 hours at their hourly rate at the 
time of termination. Employees may carry over a maximum of 480 hours of sick leave, however, 
upon termination, resignation or other separation from employment, no payment will be made for 
unused sick leave. Police employees may accrue holiday time when they work on a holiday up to a 
maximum of 104 hours each year. Upon termination, resignation or other separation from 
employment, no payment will be made for unused holiday time. A liability for the accrued 
compensatory time and vacation leave amounts are reported in the government-wide and 
proprietary fund financial statements but in governmental funds only if they have matured, for 
example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 

Compensated absences of the governmental activities and business-type activities are paid by the 
general fund and water and wastewater funds, respectively. 

Note K. Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Plan Description 

The City participates as one of 919 plans in the defined benefit cash-balance plan administered by 
the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is a statewide public retirement plan 
created by the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the Texas Government Code, 
Title 8, Subtitle G (TMRS Act) as an agent multiple-employer retirement system for employees of 
Texas participating cities. The TMRS Act places the general administration and management of 
TMRS with a six-member, Governor-appointed Board of Trustees; however, TMRS is not fiscally 
dependent on the State of Texas. TMRS issues a publicly available Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report (Annual Report) that can be obtained at tmrs.com. 

All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS. 
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Note K. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued) 

Benefits Provided 

TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the 
governing body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS. 

At retirement, the member's benefit is calculated based on the sum of the member's contributions 
with interest and the city-financed monetary credits with interest. The retiring member may select 
one of seven monthly payment options. Members may also choose to receive a portion of their 
benefit as a lump sum distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which 
cannot exceed 75% of the total member contributions and interest. 

Employee deposit rate 

Matching ratio (city to employee) 

Years required for vesting 

Retirement eligibility (expressed as 
age/years of service) 

Updated service credit 

Annuity increase (to retirees) 

Employees covered by benefit terms. 

7.0% 

2 to 1 

5 

60/5, 0/20 

0% 

0% of CPI 

At the December 31, 2022 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered 
by the benefit terms: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 
Active employees 

Total 

Contributions 

20 
30 
48 

98 

Member contribution rates in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of the member's total compensation, 
and the city matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by the 
governing body of the city. Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city 
is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. 
The city's contribution rate is based on the liabilities created from the benefit plan options selected 
by the city and any changes in benefits or actual experience over time. 

Employees for the City were required to contribute 7% of their annual compensation during the 
fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City were 6.91 % and 6.99% in calendar years 2023 and 
2022, respectively. The City's contributions to TMRS for the year ended September 30, 2023 were 
$227,424 and were equal to the required contributions. 
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Note K. Defined Benefit Pension Plan {Continued) 

Net Pension Liability 

The City's Net Pension Asset (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2022, and the Total 
Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Asset was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of that date. 

Actuarial assumptions: 

The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2022 actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions: 

Inflation 
Overall payroll growth 

Investment Rate of Return 

2.5% per year 
2. 75% per year, adjusted down for population declines, if 
any 
6. 75%, net of pension plan investment expense, including 
inflation 

Salary increases are based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are based 
on the PUB(10) mortality tables with the Public Safety table used for males and the General 
Employee table used for females. Mortality rates for healthy retirees and beneficiaries are based on 
the Gender-distinct 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality tables. The rates for actives, healthy 
retirees and beneficiaries are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for 
future mortality improvements. For disabled annuitants, the same mortality tables for healthy 
retirees are used with a 4-year set-forward for males and a 3-year set-forward for females. In 
addition, a 3.5% and 3.0% minimum mortality rate is applied, for males and females respectively, to 
reflect the impairment for younger members who become disabled. The rates are projected on a 
fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements subject to the 
floor. 

The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the 
experience of TMRS over the four-year period from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2018. 
They were adopted in 2019 and first used in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation. The post­
retirement mortality assumption for Annuity Purchase Rates (APRs) is based on the Mortality 
Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 2011 and dated December 31, 2013. Plan 
assets are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as 
the production of income in order to satisfy the short-term and long-term funding needs of TMRS. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by 
adding expected inflation. In determining their best estimate of a recommended investment return 
assumption under the various alternative asset allocation portfolios, the actuary focused on the area 
between (1) arithmetic mean (aggressive) without an adjustment for time (conservative) and (2) the 
geometric mean (conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive). 
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Note K. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued) 

The target allocation and best estimates of real rates of return for each major asset class in fiscal 
year 2022 are summarized in the following table: 

Discount Rate 

Asset Class 

Global Equities 
Core Fixed Income 
Non-Core Fixed Income 
Other Public and Private Markets 
Real Estate 
Hedge Funds 
Private Equity 

Total 

Target 
Allocation 

35.00% 
6.00% 

20.00% 
12.00% 
12.00% 
5.00% 
10.00% 

100.00% 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return 

(Arithmetic) 

7.70% 
4.90% 
8.70% 
8.10% 
5.80% 
6.90% 
11.80% 

The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that member and employer contributions will be 
made at the rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension plan's Fiduciary Net 
Position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
active and inactive members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the Total Pension 
Liability. 
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Note K. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued) 

Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset} 
Increase (Decrease) 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension 
Changes in the NPL / NPA Liability Net Position Liability (Asset) 

(a) (b) (a) - (b) 

Balance at 12/31/2021 $ 3,366,175 $ 3,434,587 $ (68,412) 
Changes for the year: 

Service cost 428,417 428,417 
Interest 238,161 238,161 
Difference between expected and actual 
experience (118,575) (118,575) 
Contributions - employer 224,571 (224,571) 
Contributions - employee 224,892 (224,892) 
Net investment income (251,317) 251,317 
Benefit payments, including refunds of 
employee contributions (104,151) (104,151) 
Administrative expense (2,170) 2,170 
Other changes 2,590 (2,590) 

Net changes 443,852 94,415 349,437 

Balance at 12/31/2022 $ 3,810,027 $ 3,529,002 $ 281,025 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the Net Pension Liability (Asset) of the City, calculated using the discount 
rate of 6. 75%, as well as what the City's Net Pension Liability (Asset) would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (5.75%) or 1 percentage point higher (7.75%) 
than the current rate: 

Net pension liability (asset) 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

1% Decrease in 
Discount Rate 

(5.75%) 

$ 939,511 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(6.75%) 

$ 281,025 

1 % Increase in 
Discount Rate 

(7.75%) 

$ (249,763) 

Detailed information about the pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position is available in the Schedule of 
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position, by Participating City. That report may be obtained at tmrs.com. 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related 
to Pensions 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $239,012. 
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Note K. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Continued) 

At September 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred 
Outflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience $ $ 130,007 
Changes of assumptions 1,068 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 241,235 
Contributions made subsequent to measurement date 165,146 

Total $ 407,449 $ 130,007 

$165,146 is reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date which will be recognized as a reduction of the 
Net Pension Liability (Asset) for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows: 

~as urem ent year 
ended December 31 : 

2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 

Total 

$ 

$ 

(5,003) 
24,258 
31,092 
72,725 

(10,776) 

112,296 
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Note L. Other Postemployment Benefits 

Plan Description 

The City participates in a defined benefit group-term life insurance plan known as the Supplemental 
Death Benefits Fund (SDBF) administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). 
The City has elected, by ordinance, to participate in this program and provide group-term life 
insurance coverage for both active and retired employees. As the SDBF covers both active and 
retiree participants, with no segregation of assets, the SDBF is considered to be a single-employer 
unfunded other postemployment benefit (OPES) plan. Since only the retiree participants qualifies 
as an OPES, the SDBF is administered through a non-qualifying trust per paragraph 4, item (b ), of 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASS) Statement No. 75, "Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions." 

Benefits Provided 

The death benefit for active Members provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the 
employee's annual salary ( calculated based on the employee's actual earnings, for the 12-month 
period preceding the month of death). The death benefit for retirees is considered an OPES and is 
a fixed amount of $7,500. 

Employees covered by benefit terms. 

At the December 31, 2022 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered 
by the benefit terms: 

Inactive employees currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 
Active employees 

Total 

Contributions 

13 
11 
48 

72 

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an annual 
actuarial valuation. The rate is based on the mortality and service experience of all employees 
covered by the SDBF and the demographics specific to the workforce of the City. The funding 
policy for the SDBF program is to assure that adequate resources are available to meet all death 
benefit payments for the upcoming year. As such, contributions fund the covered active member 
and retiree deaths on a pay-as-you-go basis. 

The City's contributions to the TMRS SDBF for the year ended September 30, 2023 were $1,223, 
which equaled the required contributions. 

Total OPES Liability 

The City's Total OPES Liability (TOL) was measured as of December 31, 2022 and was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
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Note L. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 

Actuarial assumptions: 

The TOL in the December 31, 2022 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions: 

Inflation 

Salary increases 

Discount rate 

Retirees' share of benefit-related costs 

2.50% 

3.50% to 11.50% including inflation 

4.05% 

$0 

The discount rate was based on the Fidelity Index's "20-Year Municipal GO M Index" rate as of 
December 31, 2022. All administrative expenses are paid through the Pension Trust and 
accounted for under reporting requirements of GASS Statement No. 68. Mortality rates for service 
retirees are based on 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. The rates are projected 
on a fully generational basis with scale UMP. Mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on 2019 
Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables with a 4 year set-forward for males and a 3 year set­
forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3% minimum mortality rate will be applied to reflect the 
impairment for younger members who become disabled for males and females, respectively. The 
rates are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality 
improvements subject to the floor. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2022 valuation were based on the results of 
an actuarial experience study for the period December 31, 2014 through December 31, 2018. 

Changes in Total OPEB Liability 

Balance at 12/31/2021 
Changes for the year: 

Service cost 
Interest 
Difference between expected and 

actual experience 
Changes of assumptions 
Benefit payments 

Net changes 

Balance at 12/31/2022 

Total OPES 
Liability 

$ 

$ 

121,084 

10,574 
2,316 

(2,380) 

(52,897) 
(961) 

(43,348) 

77,736 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2023 

Note L. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the Total OPEB Liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 
4.05%, as well as what the City's Total OPEB Liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (3.05%) or 1-percentage-point higher (5.05%) than 
the current rate: 

1 % Decrease in 
Discount Rate 

(3.05%) 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(4.05%) 

1 % Increase in 
Discount Rate 

(5.05%) 

Total OPES liability $ 97,319 $ 77,736 $ 63,092 

OPES Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB 

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB expense of $10,809. 

At September 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Differences between expected and actual experience 
Changes of assumptions 
Contributions made subsequent to measurement date 

Total · 

$ 

$ 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

956 

956 

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources 

$ 3,030 
24,156 

$ 27,186 

The City reported $956 as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of the 
total OPEB liability for the year fiscal ending September 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as 
deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as 
follows: 

Measurement year 
ended December 31: 

2023 $ (2,081) 
2024 (2,081) 
2025 (2,697) 
2026 (2,855) 
2027 (6,272) 

Thereafter (11,200) 

Total $ (27,186) 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2023 

Note M. lnterlocal Agreement 

In 2019, the City entered into an interlocal agreement with the City of Hudson Oaks to design, 
construct, and maintain a water transmission line to bring water service from Fort Worth's existing 
water supply line to the cities, including necessary storage facilities, pumping stations, and other 
appurtenances. The agreement established that the City would issue the debt for the entire cost of 
the project: the Combination Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus Revenue Certificates 
of Obligations, Series 2019, and the Combination Tax and Waterworks and Sewer System Surplus 
Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021, as further detailed in Note H. Per the agreement, 
the cities agreed to take on a pro-rata share of the capital assets and debt liabilities associated with 
the project. The City's share of the project is 52% and the City of Hudson Oaks' share is 48%. 

The outstanding amounts associated with the City of Hudson Oaks' share are reported in the 
Proprietary Funds Statement of Net Position. Due from other governments represents the City of 
Hudson Oaks' 48% share of the outstanding debt balance and due to other governments 
represents the City of Hudson Oaks' 48% share of the debt proceeds, less the amount that has 
been spent on project costs, plus interest earned. Balances at September 30, 2023 are: 

Due from other governments 

Due to other governments 

Note N. Transfer of Fire Department Services 

$ 

$ 

8,422,287 

312,735 

Effective March 24, 2023, the City entered into an intergovernmental agreement with Parker County 
Emergency Services District No. 1 (the ESD) to transfer its fire protection services to the ESD for 
the purpose of enhancing the provision of those service to the City's citizens. In connection with the 
agreement, the City transferred most of the fire department personnel to the ESD along with a 
payment equal to the remaining fire department budget as of the date of transfer to fund operations 
for the remaining portion of the fiscal year. Additionally, the ESD purchased certain assets from the 
City that were used in fire department operations. As a result of the transfer, the City recognized a 
loss on the disposal of $610,704 on its government statement of revenues, expenditures and 
changes and fund balance and a loss of $420,087 on its governmental activities statement of 
activities as special items. The difference between these losses is due to $1,340,136 in debt 
principal payments recognized as expense on the fund financial statements but as a reduction of 
long-term liabilities on the government-wide financial statements and ($1,149,518) to adjust from 
the total proceeds from the sale of capital assets shown on the fund level financial statements to the 
gain on disposal as reported in the government-wide financial statements. 

Note 0. Commitments 

The City has several construction contracts for improvements to the drainage system and the new 
wastewater treatment plant outstanding at year end. As of September 30, 2023, outstanding 
construction contracts totaled $2,896,032 and $550,000 in the governmental funds and the 
wastewater fund, respectively. 

Note P. Subsequent Events 

The City evaluated subsequent events through March 7, 2024, the date the financial statements 
were available to be issued. On January 9, 2024, the City issued Combination Tax and Revenue 
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2024, in the amount of $3,960,000 to be used for wastewater 
system improvements. 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

• Budget and Actual -
General Fund 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Budgeted Amounts 
Original Final 

Revenues 
Taxes 

Property $ 1,906,977 $ 1,906,977 
Sales and use 1,795,325 2,045,325 
Franchise 402,722 402,722 

Licenses and permits 749,700 749,700 
Drainage fees 350,000 
Court fines and fees 254,600 254,600 
Grants 
Investment earnings 15,000 16,500 
Intergovernmental 
Contributions 
Rental income 
Other revenues 335 335 

Total revenues 5,124,659 5,726,159 

Expenditures 
Current: 

Administration 458,578 598,579 
Development services 420,125 420,125 
Fire and rescue 1,425,021 1,425,022 
Legislative 254,826 254,830 
Municipal Court 163,787 163,787 
Police 1,805,250 1,822,443 
Public works, parks, and roads 498,805 548,806 
Capital outlay 98,267 465,268 

Debt service 
Principal 
Interest 
Certificate of obligation issuance costs 

Total expenditures 5,124,659 5,698,860 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 27,299 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 
Proceeds from certificate of obligation issuance 
Premium on long-term debt issued 
Proceeds from issuance of lease liability 
Special item: 

Loss on transfer of operations 

Total other financing sources (uses) 

Change in fund balance $ $ 27,299 

Fund balance, beginning of year 

Fund balance, end of year 

$ 

$ 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Actual Favorable 
Amounts (Unfavorable) 

1,901,676 
2,217,931 

411,357 
422,007 
363,456 
300,253 

5,049 
219,613 

56,151 
9,893 

41,549 
18,640 

5,967,575 

648,278 
580,107 
826,389 
200,797 
188,843 

1,784,356 
385,881 

10,646,980 

290,567 
176,100 
225,044 

15,953,342 

(9,985,767) 

9,340 
8,500,000 

225,044 
176,562 

(610,704) 

8,300,242 

(1,685,525) 

6,349,466 

4,663,941 

$ (5,301) 

$ 

172,606 
8,635 

(327,693) 
13,456 
45,653 

5,049 
203,113 

56,151 
9,893 

41,549 
18,305 

241,416 

(49,699) 
(159,982) 
598,633 

54,033 
(25,056) 
38,087 

162,925 
(10,181,712) 

(290,567) 
(176,100) 
(225,044) 

(10,254,482) 

(10,013,066) 

9,340 
8,500,000 

225,044 
176,562 

(610,704) 

8,300,242 

(1,712,824) 
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CITY OF WILLOW PARK 
Schedule of Changes In the Net Pension Liability/ {Asset) and Related Ratios 

Last Nine Years'"" 

Texas Munlcleal Retirement S~stem (TMRSJ 

Measurement Date-December 31st:* 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 _-2.Q.14 

Total Pension Liability 
Service cost $ 428,417 $ 371,939 $ 331,554 $ 314,289 $ 285,527 $ 258,362 $ 272,355 $ 240,748 $ 88,122 
Interest 238,161 207,637 178,464 150,778 127,139 107,654 86,596 68,080 60,307 
ChanAe in benefit tenns includinA substantively automatic statu: 122,676 
Difference between expected and actual experience (118,575} (45,798} (14,917} 7,612 15,830 (32,349} 9,269 {4,518} (71,540} 
Change in assumptions 6,156 43,222 
Benefit payments, includinA refunds of employee contributions (104,151) (115,472) (50,737) (103,874) (81,467) (35.695) (62,812) (43,186) (41,148) 

Net change in total pension liability 443,852 418,306 444,364 374,961 347,029 297,972 305,408 304,346 158,417 

Total pension liability, beginning 3 366175 2 947 869 2,503,505 2 128 544 1 781 515 1483543 1178135 873 789 715 372 
Total pension liability, ending (a} ~ 3,810.027 ~ 3,366,175 ~ 2,947.869 ~ 2,503,505 § 2,128,544 § 1,781.515 § 1,483,543 § 1,178,135 § 873,789 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Employer contributions $ 224,571 $ 198,600 $ 184,986 $ 166,714 $ 155,766 $ 136,098 $ 134,415 $ 136,696 $ 30,615 
Employee contributions 224,892 196,052 174,765 161,411 150,395 134,065 141,641 139,169 75,037 
Net investment income (251,317} 364,911 175,567 279,601 (48,854} 170,238 64,397 1,060 35,393 
Benefit payments, lncludinA refunds of employee contributions (104,151} (115,472} (50,737} (103,874} (81,467} (35,695} (62,812} (43,186} (41,148} 
Administrative expenses (2,170} (1,684} (1,134} (1,578} (945) (882) (726) (645) (369) 
Other 2 590 12 (44) (49) (49) (45) (41) (32) (30) 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 94,415 642,419 483,403 502,225 174,846 403,779 276,874 233,062 99,498 

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 3 434 587 2 792168 2,308.765 1806540 1 631 694 1227915 951 041 717 979 618481 
Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) § 3,529.002 ~ 3,434.587 § 2,792,168 § 2,308,765 ~ 1,806,540 ~ 1.631.694 ~ 1,227.915 ~ 951,041 ~ 717,979 

Net pension liability/(asset}, ending (a}- (b} $ 281,025 $ {68,412} $ 155,701 $ 194,740 $ 322,004 $ 149 821 $ 255,628 $ 227,094 $ 155,810 

Plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage 
of total pension liability 92.62% 102.03% 94.72% 92.22% 84.87% 91.59% 82.77% 80.72% 82.17% 

Covered payroll $ 3,204,314 $ 2,800,744 $ 2,496,645 $ 2,305,864 $ 2,127,623 $ 1,915,208 $ 2.023,438 $ 1,876,446 $ 1,500,744 

Net pension liability/(asset) as a % of covered payroll 8.77% -2.44% 6.24% 8.45% 15.13% 7.82% 12.63% 12.10% 10.38% 

"' The amounts presented above are as of the measurement date of the collective net pension asset (liability). 

"'"' Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 

58 

74

Item 2.



CITY OF WILLOW PARK 
Schedule of Employer Pension Contributions and Related Ratios 

Fiscal Year Ended Se.e_tember 30th:• 

The City's actuarially determined contribution 

Contributions In relation to the actuarially determined contribution 

Contribution deficiency (excess) 

Covered payroll 

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 

Valuation Dale: 

$ 

$ 

2023 

227,424 $ 

227,42_4_ 

3,280,913 $ 

6.93% 

Last Nine Fiscal Years,...., 

2022 2021 2020 

214,303 $ 184,986 $ 166,714 

__ 21<1i:i!l_3_ 219176 190 527 

$ (34,190) $ (23,813) 

3,055,374 $ 2,532,785 $ 2,298,296 

7.01% 8.65% 8.29% 

Notes to Schedule of Contributions 

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 and become effective in January - 13 months later. 

Methods and assumptions used lo determine contribution rates: 

Actuarial Cost Method 
Amortization Method 
Remaining Amortization Period 
Asset Valuation Method 
Inflation 

Entry Age Normal 
Level percentage of payroll, closed 
22 Years (longest amortization ladder) 
10 year smoothed market; 12% soft corridor 
2.50% 
3.50% to 11.50% including inflation 
6.75% 

2019 

$ 155,766 

176 287 

$ (20,521) 

$ 2,019,522 

8.73% 

2018 2017 

$ 158,377 $ 136,067 

141 009 136 067 

$ 17,368 

$ 1,913,221 $ 1,954,990 

7.37% 6.96% 

Salary Increases 
Investment Rate of Return 
Retirement Age 
Mortality 

Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's plan of benefits. Last updated for the 2019 valualion pursuant to an experience study of the period 2014-2018. 
Post-retirement: 2019 Municipal Retirees ofTexas Mortality Tables. The rates are projected on a fully generalional basis with scale UMP. 

2016 2015 

$ 134,745 $ 106,037 

134 745 106 037 

$ 1,988,189 $ 1,749,548 

6.78% 6.06% 

Pre-retirement: PUB(10) mortality tables, with the Public Safety table used for males and the General Employee table used for females. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis with scale UMP. 

Other information: There were no benefit changes during the year. 

"'The amounts presented above are as of the City's applicable fiscal year-end. 

•• Schedule Is intended to show information for 10 years. Addilionai years will be displayed as they become available. 
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CITY OF WILLOW PARK 
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Last Six Years ... 

Texas Municipal Retirement S)!'.stem !TMRS) 

Measurement Date - December 31st:• 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

Total OPEB Liability- beginning of year $ 121,084 $ 109,216 $ 82,625 $ 59,719 $ 57,763 $ 46,676 

Service cost 10,574 7,842 5,742 4,381 4,468 3,447 
Interest 2,316 2,254 2,348 2,293 1,982 1,830 
Change in benefit terms 
Difference between expected and actual experience (2,380) (2,040) 544 (606) 1,280 
Changes of assumptions or other inputs (52,897) 4,652 18,207 17,069 (5,561) 5,810 
Benefit payments (961) (840) (250) (231) (213) 

Net changes (43,348) 11,868 26,591 22,906 1,956 11,087 

Total OPEB Liability- end of year $ 77,736 $ 121,084 $ 109 216 $ 82 625 $ 59 719 _j_ 57,763 

Covered-employee payroll $ 3,204,314 $ 2,800,744 $ 2,496,645 $ 2,305,846 $ 2,127,623 $ 1,915,208 

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 2.43% 4.32% 4.37% 3.58% 2.81% 3.02% 

* The amounts presented above are as of the measurement date of the collective total OPEB liability. 

** Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 
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Fiscal Year Ended Sep_tember 30th: * 

The City's actuarially determined contribution 

CITY OF WILLOW PARK 
Schedule of OPEB Contributions and Related Ratios 

Last Six Fiscal Years** 

Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) 

2023 2022 2021 

$ 1,223 $ 917 $ 

2020 2019 2018 

760 $ 230 $ 202 $ 191 

___ .....:.J1 =22=3'- 917 760 230 202 191 Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -_$ - $ - $ - $ -=$======= 

Covered-employee payroll $ 3,280,913 $ 3,055,374 $ 

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 0.04% 0.03% 

Notes to Schedule of Contributions 

Valuation Date: 

2,532,785 $ 2,298,296 $ 

0.03% 0.01% 

2,019,522 $ 

0.01% 

1,913,221 

0.01% 

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 and become effective in January- 13 months later. 

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 

Asset Valuation Method 

Inflation 
Salary Increases 
Discount Rate*** 
Retirees' share of benefit-related costs 
Administrative expenses 

Mortality rates - service retirees 
Mortality rates - disabled retirees 

For purposes of calculating the Total OPEB Liability, the plan is considered to be unfunded and therefore no assets are accumulated 
for OPEB. 

2.50% 
3.50% to 11.50% including inflation 
4.05% 
$0 
All administrative expenses are paid through the Pension Trust and accounted for under reporting requirements under GASB 
Statement No. 68. 
2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis with scale UMP. 
2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables with a 4 year set-forward for males and a 3 year set-forward for females. In 
addition, a 3.5% and 3% minimum mortality rate will be applied to reflect the impairment for younger members who become disabled 
for males and females, respectively. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future 
mortality improvements subject to the floor. 

* The amounts presented above are as of the City's fiscal year-end. 

** Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 

••• The discount rate was based on the Fidelity Index's "20-Year Municipal GO AA Index" rate as of December 31, 2022. 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
September 30, 2023 

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 
Total Nonmajor 

First Special 
Court Court Seizure Tourism Police Responder Truancy Revenue 

Security Technology Fund Fund Contributions Donations Funds Funds 
Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 58,158 $ 62,750 $ 4,848 $ 466,784 $ 544 $ 136,217 $ 26,476 $ 755,777 
Investments --

Total assets $ 58,158 $ 62,750 $ 4,848 $ 466,784 $ 544 $ 136,217 $ 26,476 $ 755,777 

Liabilities and fund balances 

Liabilities: 
Accounts payable $ $ $ $ $ $ 1,892 ..1 $ 1,892 

Total liabilities 1,892 1,892 

Fund balances: 
Restricted 58,158 62,750 4,848 466,784 544 134,325 26,476 753,885 

Total fund balances 58,158 62,750 4,848 466,784 544 134,325 26,476 753,885 

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 58158 $ 62 750 $ 4 848 $ 466,784 $ 544 $ 136 217 _j_ 26,476 $ 755 777 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
September 30, 2023 

Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds 
Total Nonmajor Total 

Building TexStar TIRZ Capital Nonmajor 
Capital Parks & Reimbursement Projects Governmental 

~eels Recreation Fund Funds Funds 
Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,371 $ $ 3,000 $ 15,371 $ 771,148 
Investments 48,372 48,372 48,372 -

Total assets $ 12,371 $ 48,372 $ 3,000 $ 63,743 $ 819,520 

Liabilities and fund balances 

Liabilities: 
Accounts payable $ $ $ $ - $ 1,892 

Total liabilities - 1,892 

Fund balances: 
Restricted 12,371 48,372 3,000 63,743 817,628 

Total fund balances 12,371 48,372 3,000 63,743 817,628 -
Total liabilities and fund balances $ 12 371 $ 48 372 _j_ 3,000 $ 63 743 $ 819 520 
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City of Willow Park, Texas 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 
Total Nonmajor 

First Special 
Court Court Seizure Tourism Police Responder Truancy Revenue 

Security Technology Fund Fund Contributions Donations Funds Funds 

Revenues 
Hotel occupancy tax $ $ $ $ 243,759 $ $ $ $ 243,759 
TIRZ -
Court fines and fees 8,008 6,693 8,172 22,873 
Investment earnings 142 10,161 404 10,707 
Contributions 124,308 124,308 

Total revenues 8,008 6,693 142 253,920 124,712 8,172 401,647 

Expenditures 
Current: 

Development services -
Fire and rescue 91,131 91 131 

Total expenditures 91,131 91,131 

Changes in fund balances 8,008 6,693 142 253,920 33,581 8,172 310,516 

Fund balances, beginning of year 50,150 56,057 4,706 212,864 544 100,744 18,304 443,369 

Fund balances, end of year $ 58,158 $ 62,750 $ 4,848 $ 466,784 $ 544 $ 134,325 $ 26,476 $ 753,885 
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Revenues 
Hotel occupancy tax 
TIRZ 
Court fines and fees 
Investment earnings 
Contributions 

Total revenues 

Expenditures 
Current: 

Development services 
Fire and rescue 

Total expenditures 

Changes in fund balances 

Fund balances, beginning of year 

Fund balances, end of year 

City of Willow Park, Texas 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds 

Total Nonmajor 
Building TexStar TIRZ Capital 
Capital Parks & Reimbursement Projects 

~ects Recreation Fund Funds 

$ $ $ $ -
349,784 349,784 

-
360 2,140 1,790 4,290 

-

360 2,140 351,574 354,074 

350,000 350,000 
-

350,000 350,000 

360 2,140 1,574 4,074 

12,011 46,232 1,426 59,669 -
$ 12,371 $ 48,372 $ 3,000 $ 63,743 

Total 
Nonmajor 

Governmental 
Funds 

$ 243,759 
349,784 

22,873 
14,997 

124,308 

755,721 

350,000 
91,131 

441,131 

314,590 

503,038 

$ 817,628 
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SNOW GARRETT WILLIAMS 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Willow Park, Texas 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Willow Park, Texas (the City), as of and for 
the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City of Willow Park, Texas' basic financial statements, and have issued 
our report thereon dated March 7, 2024. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions 
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements, on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

1207 Santa Fe Drive • Weatherford, Texas 76086 • 817-596-9301 • Fax 817-596-9304 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or 
other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

Snow Garrett Williams 
March 7, 2024 
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CITY OF WILLOW PARK, TEXAS 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor's report issued: 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness(es) identified? 

Significant deficiencies identified that are not 
considered to be material weaknesses? 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major programs: 

Material weakness(es) identified? 

Significant deficiencies identified that are not 
considered to be material weaknesses? 

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs: 

Version of compliance supplement used in audit: 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in 
accordance with section 2 CFR Section 200.416(a)? 

Identification of Major Programs: 

ALN 
66.468 

21.027 

Name of Federal Program 
Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State 

Revolving Funds 

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal 
Recovery Funds 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B 
federal programs: 

Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee? 

Section II - Financial Statement Findings 

None noted. 

Section Ill - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

None noted. 

Unmodified 

___ yes 

yes 

___ yes 

___ yes 

___ yes 

Unmodified 

May2023 

yes 

$ 750,000 

yes 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

no 

none reported 

no 

no 

none reported 

no 

no 
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CITY OF WILLOW PARK, TEXAS 
Corrective Action Plan 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

A corrective action plan is not needed. 

71 
87

Item 2.



CITY OF WILLOW PARK, TEXAS 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

There were no prior year audit findings. 
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FEDERAL AWARDS SECTION 
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SNOW GARRETT WILLIAMS 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH 
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE 

REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Willow Park, Texas 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Willow Park, Texas ', compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements identified as subject to audit in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have 
a direct and material effect on each of the City's major federal programs for the year ended 
September 30, 2023. The City's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the City of Willow Park, Texas, complied, in all material respects, with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on 
each of its major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2023. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the 
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of 
the City's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 

74 

1207 Santa Fe Drive • Weatherford, Texas 76086 • 817-596-9301 • Fax 817-596-9304 
90

Item 2.



Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant 
agreements applicable to the City's federal programs. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with 
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and 
express an opinion on the City's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of 
the report on compliance about the City's compliance with the requirements of each major federal 
program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, 
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the City's compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of the City's internal control over compliance relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, 
on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control 
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed 
to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our 
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to 
be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

SYU)U) JJoJWtt w~ 
Snow Garrett Williams 
March 7, 2024 
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CITY OF WILLOW PARK, TEXAS 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/ 
Program or Cluster Title 

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Cluster: 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Passed through Texas Water Development Board 

Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water 
State Revolving Funds 

Total Passed Through Texas Water Development Board 

Total U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

Total Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Cluster 

Other Programs: 

U.S. Department of the Transportation 
Passed through Texas Department of Transportation 

STEP Impaired Driving Mobilization 
STEP Click It or Ticket 

Total Passed Through Texas Department of Transportation 

Total U.S. Department of the Transportation 

U.S. Department of the Treasury 
Passed through Texas Division of Emergency Management 

COVID-19 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 

Total Passed Through Texas Division of Emergency Management 

Total U.S. Department of the Treasury 

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Note 1: Basis of Presentation 

Federal 
Assistance 

Listing 
Number 

66.468 

20.616 
20.616 

21.027 

Pass-Through 
Entity 

Identifying Federal 
Number Expenditures 

L 1001032 $ 1,877,782 

1,877,782 

1,877,782 

1,877,782 

5,049 
2,398 

7,447 

7,447 

961,429 

961,429 

961,429 

$ 2,846,658 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity of the City of Willow 
Park, Texas for the year ended September 30, 2023. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance 
with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the schedule presents 
only a selected portion of the operations of the City of Willow Park, it is not intended to and does not present the 
financial position or changes in net position or cash flows of the City of Willow Park. 

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
Expenditures reported on the schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are 
recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are 
not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. The City of Willow Park has elected not to use the 10% de mini mis 
indirect cost rate as permitted in the Uniform Guidance, section 200.414. 
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CITY COUNCIL    

 AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING SHEET 
 

Council Date: 

 

March 12, 2024 

Department: 

 

Planning & Development 

Presented By:  
 

 

Toni Fisher, Director 

 

AGENDA ITEM:  
 

Consideration & Action: to approve a Final Plat for Lots 1-6, Block 1, Haney Complex, 

being 31.247 acres, Eliza Oxer Survey, Abstract No. 1031, in the City of Willow Park, 

Parker County, Texas.   

BACKGROUND: 
 

Applicant and surveyor, Scott Crawford of Baird, Hampton & Brown, Inc., along with the property owners, 

Dustin & Jayme Haney, propose to plat 31.247 acres, located south of East Bankhead Highway, Eliza Oxer 

Survey, Abstract No. 1031 Survey into Lots 1 through 6.  This subdivision was annexed into the City of 

Willow Park on January 9, 2024, by Ordinance 895-24.   

 

A flood study was done on the property by Baird, Hampton & Brown, and the Final Plat reflects those 

results.  

 

STAFF/BOARD/COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  
 

 

Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of the Final Plat with Staff corrections, a vote of 

3-0.   

 

All Staff corrections have been addressed and Staff recommends approval of this Final Plat, as presented.  

 

EXHIBITS:  
 

 Final Plat – Lots 1-6, Haney Complex 

 Plat Application 

 Site Aerial  

 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  
 

Approval of the subject Final Plat, as presented.    
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FINAL PLAT
LOTS 1-6, BLOCK 1
HANEY COMPLEX

BEING A 31.247 ACRE TRACT OF LAND SITUATED IN THE

ELIZA OXER SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 1031

an Addition to the City of Willow Park, Parker County, Texas

MARCH 2024 SHEET 1 OF 2

1. Basis of bearing being U.S. State Plane Grid - Texas North Central Zone (4202) NAD83 as
established using the AllTerra RTKNet Cooperative Network.  Reference frame is NAD83(2011) Epoch
2010.0000. Distances shown are U.S. Survey feet displayed in surface values.
2. Vertical Datum established using the AllTerra RTKNet Cooperative Network. All elevations
shown are NAVD88.
3. Unless otherwise noted all property corners are set 5/8 inch capped iron rods stamped "BHB
INC".
4. The property as platted is subject to any document pertaining to utility easements for electric,
telephone or other utilities that affects said property as recorded in the Parker County Clerk's Office.
5. This survey has been prepared without the benefit of a current commitment for title insurance,
additional easements or restrictions may affect this property.
6. Utility Easements may be used for the mutual use and accommodation of all public utilities, said
use by public utilities being subordinate to the public's and The City of Willow Park's use thereof. The
City of Willow Park and public entities shall have the right to remove and keep removed all or parts of
any building, fences, trees, shrubs, or other improvements or growths which may in any way
endanger or interfere with the construction, maintenance, or efficiency of their respective systems in
said easement. The City of Willow Park and public utility entities shall have the full right of ingress and
egress to and from their respective easements, without the necessity at any time of procuring
permission from anyone.
7. All lots shall conform to current zoning building set backs as specified by the City of Willow
Park's Municipal Code of Ordinances.
8. Selling a portion of this Addition by metes and bounds is a violation of City Ordinances and
State Law, and is subject to fines and withholding of utilities and building permits.
9. All of Lots 5 and 6 are drainage easements.   At the time of future development and replatting
of these lots, drainage easements corresponding to specific drainage ways shall be dedicated and
these lot-wide drainage easements shall be vacated.

GENERAL NOTES

FLOOD ZONE NOTES

A portion of the subject property lies within SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREAS (SFHAs) SUBJECT TO
INUNDATION BY THE 1% ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD:

A. Zone A - Base flood elevations determined  per FIRM, Flood Insurance Rate Map, Community
Panel Number 48367C0450E, Map Revised September 26, 2008. The location as shown is per
scaling. This does not represent a drainage study for floodplain limits.

B. Zone AE - Base flood elevations determined  per FIRM, Flood Insurance Rate Map, Community
Panel Number 48367C0450E, Map Revised September 26, 2008. The location as shown is per
scaling. This does not represent a drainage study floodplain limits.

C. The remainder of the subject property lies within Zone X - Areas determined to be outside the
0.2% annual chance floodplain per FIRM, Flood Insurance Rate Map, Community Panel Number
48367C0450E, Map Revised September 26, 2008.

D. Preliminary 100-YR Ultimate Floodplain per Baird, Hampton, Brown Inc. Floodstudy of Haney
Complex, dated 10/31/2023.  This Final Plat does not represent a drainage study for Floodplain
limits.

CIRF.......................1/2" Capped Iron Rod Marked "CARTER ALEDO" Found
CIRF(CTLS).............1/2" Capped Iron Rod Marked "CTLS" Found
D.R.P.C.T............... Deed Records, Parker County, Texas
IRF.........................Iron Rod Found
IRS.........................5/8" Capped Iron Rod Marked "BHB INC" Set
P.R.P.C.T................Plat Records, Parker County, Texas
..............................Block Number
..............................Road Name Change

LEGEND

Owners/Developers:
Attn: Dustin Kyle Haney &
Jayme Lynne Haney, Co-Trustees
Haney Revocable Trust
103 Plantation Ct.
Aledo, Texas 76008
PH# 817-980-2425

Surveyor:

N

W

S

E

1
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1. Basis of bearing being U.S. State Plane Grid - Texas North Central Zone (4202) NAD83 as
established using the AllTerra RTKNet Cooperative Network.  Reference frame is NAD83(2011) Epoch
2010.0000. Distances shown are U.S. Survey feet displayed in surface values.
2. Vertical Datum established using the AllTerra RTKNet Cooperative Network. All elevations shown
are NAVD88.
3. Unless otherwise noted all property corners are set 5/8 inch capped iron rods stamped "BHB
INC".
4. The property as platted is subject to any document pertaining to utility easements for
electric, telephone or other utilities that affects said property as recorded in the Parker County Clerk's
Office.
5. This survey has been prepared without the benefit of a current commitment for title
insurance, additional easements or restrictions may affect this property.
6. Utility Easements may be used for the mutual use and accommodation of all public utilities, said
use by public utilities being subordinate to the public's and The City of Willow Park's use thereof. The
City of Willow Park and public entities shall have the right to remove and keep removed all or parts of
any building, fences, trees, shrubs, or other improvements or growths which may in any way endanger
or interfere with the construction, maintenance, or efficiency of their respective systems in said
easement. The City of Willow Park and public utility entities shall have the full right of ingress and
egress to and from their respective easements, without the necessity at any time of procuring
permission from anyone.
7. All lots shall conform to current zoning building set backs as specified by the City of Willow Park's
Municipal Code of Ordinances.
8. Selling a portion of this Addition by metes and bounds is a violation of City Ordinances and State
Law, and is subject to fines and withholding of utilities and building permits.
9. All of Lots 5 and 6 are drainage easements.   At the time of future development and replatting of
these lots, drainage easements corresponding to specific drainage ways shall be dedicated and these
lot-wide drainage easements shall be vacated.

GENERAL NOTES

CITY OF WILLOW PARK, TEXAS
CITY COUNCIL

NOTE: THIS PLAT IS VALID ONLY IF RECORDED WITHIN

SIX (6) MONTHS AFTER DATE OF APPROVAL

         BY:

                CITY MAYOR        DATE

ATTEST:

                CITY SECRETARY        DATE

BEING a tract of land situated in the Eliza Oxer Survey, Abstract Number 1031, Parker County, Texas, and being all of Tracts 1-3 as described
by deed to Dustin Kyle Haney and Jayme Lynne Haney as recorded in Document Number 202200494, Deed Records, Parker County, Texas
(D.R.P.C.T.), and being more particularly described by metes and bounds as follows: Bearings referenced to U.S. State Plane Grid 1983 - Texas
North Central Zone (4202) NAD83 as established using the AllTerra RTKNet Cooperative Network. Reference frame is NAD83(2011) Epoch
2010.0000. Distances shown are U.S. Survey feet displayed in surface values.)

BEGINNING at a found 1/2-inch capped iron rod marked “CTLS” for the northwest corner of the said Haney tracts, same being the most
northerly corner of Lot 7, Block 1, West Oaks Homesites, Section 3, an addition to Parker County, Texas as shown on the plat recorded in
Volume 360A, Page 48, Plat Records, Parker County, Texas (P.R.P.C.T.), and being the most easterly corner of Lot 6 of said Block 1, and also
being in the south right-of-way line of East Bankhead Highway (a variable width right-of-way);

THENCE North 86°59'14” East, with the common line between the said Haney tracts and the said south right-of-way line, passing at a
distance of 28.75 feet a found 1/2-inch iron rod, being the northwest corner of the aforesaid Haney Tract 1, same being the most northerly
northeast corner of the aforesaid Haney Tract 3, then continuing in all for a total distance of 633.84 feet to a found 1/2-inch iron rod for the
northeast corner of the aforesaid Haney Tract 2, same being the northwest corner of a tract of land as described by deed to Stillwater
Meadow, LLC as recorded in Document Number 201522788, D.R.P.C.T.;

THENCE with the common line between the said Haney tracts and the said Stillwater Meadow, LLC tract the following courses and distances:

South 08°57'20” East, a distance of 275.39 feet to a found 1/2-inch iron rod;

South 04°31'02” West, a distance of 551.53 feet to a found 1/2-inch iron rod for the southeast corner of the said Haney Tract 1, same
being the southwest corner of the said Stillwater Meadow, LLC tract, and being in the north line of the aforementioned Haney Tract 3;
North 89°25'19” East, a distance of 170.89 feet to a set 5/8-inch capped iron rod marked “BHB INC” for the northeast corner of the said
Haney Tract 3, same being the southeast corner of the said Stillwater Meadow, LLC tract, and being in the west line of Lot 15, Block 1,
Shadow Creek Ranch, an addition to Parker County, Texas as shown on the plat recorded in Volume 2088, Page 1115, P.R.P.C.T.;

THENCE South 04°48'06” West, with the common line between the said Haney tracts and said Lot 15, a distance of 232.66 feet to a found
1/2-inch iron rod;

THENCE South 00°14'50” East, continuing with the said common line, passing at a distance of 158.15 feet, a point for the southwest corner of
said Lot 15, same being the northwest corner of Lot 12, Block 1, Shadow Creek Phase II, an addition to Parker County, Texas as shown on the
plat recorded in Cabinet C, Page 341, P.R.P.C.T., same being the most northerly corner of Lot 13 of said Block 1, Shadow Creek Phase II, and
now continuing with the common line between the said Haney tracts and said Shadow Creek Phase II in all for a total distance of 852.83 feet
to a found 1/2-inch iron rod for the southeast corner of the aforesaid Haney Tract 3, same being the southwest corner of Lot 15 of said Block
1, Shadow Creek Phase II, and being in the north line of Lot 16 of said Block 1, Shadow Creek Phase II;

THENCE South 88°49'15” West, continuing with the common line between the said Haney Tracts and said Shadow Creek Phase II, passing at a
distance of 378.98 feet, a point for the northwest corner of said Lot 16, same being the northeast corner of a remainder tract of land as
described by deed to Bailey Ranch, a Texas Limited Partnership as recorded in Volume 2018, Page 163, D.R.P.C.T. and now continuing with
the common line between the said Haney tracts and the said Bailey Ranch tract, in all for a total distance of 761.04 feet to a found 1/2-inch
capped iron rod marked “CARTER ALEDO” for the southwest corner of the said Haney Tract 3, same being the southeast corner of Lot 35,
Block 2, West Oaks Homesites, Section 1, an addition to Parker County, Texas as shown on the plat recorded in Volume 360A, Page 34,
P.R.P.C.T., and being the southeast corner of Lot 34 of said Block 2;

THENCE North 00°48'29” West, with the common line between the said Haney tracts and said West Oaks Homesites, Section 1, passing at a
distance of 1507.28 feet, a point for the northeast corner of said West Oaks Homesites, Section 1, same being the southeast corner of the
aforementioned Block 1, West Oaks Homesites, Section 3 from which a found 1/2-inch iron rod bears North 88°55'59” West, a distance of
1.88 feet, and now continuing with the common line between the said Haney tracts and the said West Oaks Homesites, Section 3 in all for a
total distance of 1887.32 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 1,361,137 feet or 31.247 acres of land more or less.

NOW, THEREFORE, KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:

That, Haney Revocable Trust, acting herein by and through its duly authorized Trustees, does hereby certify and adopt this plat designating
the herein above described property as Lots 1-5, Block 1, Haney Complex, an addition to the City of Willow Park, Parker County, Texas, and
does hereby dedicate to the public use forever, the streets and alleys shown thereon. Haney Revocable Trust does herein certify the
following: The streets and alleys are dedicated for street and alley purposes. All public improvements and dedications shall be free and clear
of all debt, liens, and/or encumbrances. The easements and public use areas, as shown, are dedicated for the public use forever for the
purposes indicated on this plat. No building, fences, trees, shrubs, or other improvements or growths shall be constructed or placed upon,
over or across the easements as shown, except that landscape improvements may be placed in landscape easements if approved by The City
of Willow Park. The City of Willow Park, Is not responsible for replacing any improvements in, under, or over any easements caused by
maintenance or repair. Utility easements may also be used for the mutual use and accommodation of all public utilities desiring to use or
using the same unless the easement limits the use to particular utilities, said use by public utilities being subordinate to the public's and The
City of Willow Park's use thereof. The City of Willow Park, and public utilities shall have the right to remove and keep removed all or parts of
any building, fences, trees, shrubs or other improvements or growths which may in any way endanger or interfere with the construction,
maintenance, or efficiency of their respective systems in the easements. The City of Willow Park, and public utilities shall at all times have the
full right of ingress and egress to or from their respective easements for the purpose of constructing, reconstructing, inspecting, patrolling,
maintaining, reading meters, and adding to or removing all or parts of their respective systems without the necessity at any time permission
from anyone. All modifications to this document shall be by means of plat and approved by The City of Willow Park.

I, Toby G. Stock, a Registered Professional Land Surveyor licensed in the State of Texas, do
hereby declare that this survey is true and correct and was prepared from an actual survey
made under my supervision on the ground.  Further, this survey conforms to the general
rules of procedures and practices of the most current Texas Engineering and Land
Surveying Practice Acts and Rules Concerning Practice and Licensure.

_______________________________
Toby G. Stock
State of Texas Registered Professional Land Surveyor No. 6412
Date: March 07, 2024

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATION

Surveyor:

STATE OF TEXAS §
COUNTY OF ______________ §

Before me, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and
for said County and State on this date personally appeared
Dustin Kyle Haney, Co-Trustee, known to me to be the person
whose name are subscribed to the foregoing instrument and
acknowledged to me that he executed the same for the
purpose and considerations therein expressed.

Given under my hand and seal of office, this  day
of , 2024.

         

Notary Public in and for the State of Texas

STATE OF TEXAS §
COUNTY OF _____________ §

Before me, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and
for said County and State on this date personally appeared
Jayme Lynne Haney, Co-Trustee, known to me to be the
person whose name are subscribed to the foregoing
instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the
same for the purpose and considerations therein expressed.

Given under my hand and seal of office, this  day
of , 2024.

         

Notary Public in and for the State of Texas

Owners/Developers:
Attn: Dustin Kyle Haney &
Jayme Lynne Haney, Co-Trustees
Haney Revocable Trust
103 Plantation Ct.
Aledo, Texas 76008
PH# 817-980-2425

PRELIMINARY, THIS DOCUMENT SHALL NOT BE RECORDED
FOR ANY PURPOSE AND SHALL NOT BE USED OR VIEWED
OR RELIED UPON AS A FINAL SURVEY DOCUMENT.

FINAL PLAT
LOTS 1-6, BLOCK 1
HANEY COMPLEX

BEING A 31.247 ACRE TRACT OF LAND SITUATED IN THE

ELIZA OXER SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 1031

an addition to the City of Willow Park, Parker County, Texas
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